From the Department of Neuroscience, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

On Regulation of Hippocampal Neurogenesis Roles of Ethanol Intake, Physical Activity and Environment

Elin Åberg



Stockholm 2007

Cover: Newly formed neurons in the dentate gyrus of hippocampus. Illustration: Niklas Wrendendal

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publishers.

Layout: Ida Engqvist Printed by Larserics Digital Print AB, Bromma, 2007

© Elin Åberg, 2007 ISBN 978-91-7357-439-6

NEEO

ABSTRACT

The addiction research field struggles with the question of how long-term memories associated with addictions, which are likely to have a role in the relapse phenomenon, are formed. The work in this thesis has focused on structural adaptations and changes in plasticity genes in hippocampus, formed by both naturally awarding and drug-induced reward-seeking behaviors. Changes in the hippocampal neural network are further investigated in relation to social and environmental interactions. Specifically, analysis of formation, migration and differentiation of new cells, primarily neurons, in the dentate gyrus of hippocampus was performed. Mice and rats were studied in two putatively reward-generating behaviors, the two-bottle free-choice model of ethanol consumption, and voluntary wheel-running. Animals were also exposed to different environmental conditions, standard and enhanced, and altered social contacts.

Papers I and II describe effects of ethanol on hippocampal neurogenesis. Mice offered 10% ethanol in one of the two bottles in the free-choice model for short or long periods consumed ≈ 6 g ethanol/kg/day. These mice displayed increased cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus. However, rats offered a lower ethanol concentration (5% v/v) consumed less ethanol (1.8 g/kg/day). Interestingly, this level of ethanol intake did not affect cell proliferation and neurogenesis. When rats voluntarily consuming ethanol were subjected to repeated irregular withdrawal phases, ethanol intake decreased and they gained 30% in weight compared to continuously drinking animals or water-consuming controls. These animals also had decreased hippocampal neurogenesis. An irregular, and for the animals unpredictable and thus hypothetically stressful ethanol intake also decreased expression of the Nogo-receptor in hippocampus, while constant ethanol exposure did not. In conclusion, constant low ethanol intake does not affect hippocampal neurogenesis, while an irregular, presumably stressful intake does. Hypothetically, the increased number of new neurons detected after high ethanol intake could be involved in the formation of ethanol-associated memories, and ultimately in cue-induced relapse.

Papers III-VI address the effects of wheel running on cell proliferation, cell survival and neurogenesis and on plasticity genes in hippocampus. The adaptations found in hippocampus varied with running periods, social contacts and environment. In summary, long-term running increased neurogenesis in hippocampus whereas intermittent access to the running wheels did not induce any changes in hippocampal cell survival. Intermittent housing in enhanced environments, however, increased survival of newly formed cells compared to standard cage conditions. Cell proliferation in the dentate gyrus was increased more after 1 week than 4 weeks of running. In addition, the Nogo-receptor was found to be down-regulated at one week but not after four weeks of running. BDNF mRNA levels were increased after both one and four weeks of running. This suggests that the time frame for learning a new motor skill or to learn to appreciate the rewarding properties of a motor behavior, in this case the running in running-wheels, is associated with the highest hippocampal cell proliferation and the lowest levels of the Nogo-receptor. In support of this hypothesis that the Nogo-receptor overexpressing mice did not learn to develop an excessive running behavior during a five-week trial period.

Taken together, both natural and drug-induced reward-generating behaviors induce changes of hippocampal neurogenesis and transcription of plasticity associated genes. These adaptations are likely to be linked to associative and motor learning of the two behaviors and can therefore function as key elements in the establishment of addictions and in relapse.

ISBN 978-91-7357-439-6

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
The Hippocampal Formation	. 1
Neuroanatomy	. 1
Hippocampal function	. 3
Hippocampal plasticity	. 3
Regulation Of Neurogenesis	. 5
Ethanol consumption	. 5
Physical activity	. 7
Environment	. 8
Neurotrophins	. 9
The Nogo Signalling System	. 9
The Retinoid Signalling System	10
A:	11
Aims	11
Materials And Methods	13
Animals	13
Breeding	13
The retinoid reporter mouse (paper VI)	13
The nogo overexpressing mouse (paper III)	13
Housing conditions	13
Standard environment	14
Enhanced environment	14
Ethanol administration paradigms	15
The two-bottle free-choice model	15
Ethanol withdrawal	15
Blood alcohol concentration	16
Plasma conticosterone analyses	16
Wheel running	16
	17
	17
Coll anality fraction migration and neuroparasis deposition	17
De JULL, Lie	17
	1/
KI-6/ labeling	18
Doublecortin labeling	18
Sample preparation	18
Fresh frozen tissue	18
Perfusion of tissue	18
Immunohistochemistry	18
BrdU immunohistochemistry (papers I, III, IV)	18
Doublecortin immunohistochemistry (papers II and VI)	19
Ki-67 immunohistochemistry (paper II)	19
BrdU/NeuN and BrdU/S100β double labeling (paper I)	19
β-galactosidase and β-galactosidase/Nurr1 immunohistochemistry (paper VI)	20
TUNEL staining	20
ELISA	20
Stereology	21
In situ hybridization	21
Results and Discussion	23
Voluntary ethanol intake affects hippocampal plasticity (papers I and II)	23
Ethanol intake is associated with changes of cell proliferation and neurogenesis	23
Ethanol intake down-regulates Nogo-recentor component in hippocampus (naper II)	26
Running is associated with himpocampal plasticity	27
Wheel supplies influences call proliferation and paurorenesis in hippocampus (papers III VI)	27
wheel running innucies can pronetation and neurogenesis in inprocampus (papers III-VI)	21 28
International from from the single base is associated with increased call prolifering	20
and neuroneoic (namers IV and V)	20
The retirogenesis (papers 1 v and v)	ムツ 21
The returning system, running and neurogenesis (paper v I)	51
General conclusions	33
Acknowledgements	35
References	39
THE TERE CONTRACT. THE	

List of Papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to by their Roman numerals:

- I. Elin Åberg, Christoph P. Hofstetter, Lars Olson and Stefan Brené. Moderate ethanol consumption increases hippocampal cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse. International Journal of *Neuropsychopharmacology* 8: 557-567, 2005
- II. Elin Åberg and Stefan Brené. Ethanol consumption with unpredictable withdrawal episodes, but not constant access, decreases hippocampal neurogenesis in adult rats. *Manuscript*
- III. Elin Åberg, Alexandra Karlén, Anna Josephson, Lars Olson and Stefan Brené. Voluntary running is Nogo receptor-sensitive and associated with changes of plasticity genes and neurogenesis in hippocampus. *Manuscript*
- IV. Elin Åberg, Therese M. Pham, Mieke Zwart, Vera Baumans and Stefan Brené. Intermittent individual housing increases survival of newly proliferated cells. *NeuroReport* 16: 1419-1422, 2005
- V. Shun-Wei Zhu, Therese M. Pham, Elin Åberg, Stefan Brené, Bengt Winblad, Abdul H. Mohammed and Vera Baumans. Neurotrophin levels and behaviour in BALB/c mice: Impact of intermittent exposure to individual housing and wheel running. *Behavioural Brain Research* 167: 1–8, 2006
- VI. Elin Åberg, Thomas Perlmann, Lars Olson and Stefan Brené. Running increases neurogenesis without retinoic acid receptor activation in the adult mouse dentate gyrus. *Manuscript*

On Regulation of Hippocampal Neurogenesis Roles of Ethanol Intake, Physical Activity and Environment

INTRODUCTION

Hippocampal functions are crucial for daily life, with an important role in learning and memory and also in the control of mood. Experimental studies in adult animals suggest that the formation of new neurons in this area contributes to the ability of the brain to handle and adapt to new situations. New neurons are continuously formed in the dentate gyrus throughout life in a highly regulated manner. Physical activity is known to be beneficial for health and promotes learning and memory. However, committed runners can develop an addictive-like behavior with withdrawal symptoms when deprived of the activity. In this thesis we investigate the effects on neurogenesis of voluntary running in running-wheels in relation to different environmental conditions and plasticity genes in hippocampus. High alcohol intake during longer periods is associated with general brain damage. However, analysis of post-mortem brains of human alcoholics cannot document neuronal cell loss in hippocampus. Hypothetically, the establishment of new neurons in hippocampus during alcohol intake could be important for the formation of new alcohol-associated memories. These memories, in turn, could increase risk of relapse in nondrinking alcoholics when specific cues activate these memories and trigger craving for alcohol. In this thesis we investigate the effects of both high and low ethanol intake during different intake patterns on the formation of new neurons in hippocampus.

An overall aim has been to advance understanding of hippocampal plasticity and neurogenesis in relation to ethanol consumption and excessive running. Because addictive behavior can also be influenced by alterations of social contacts and other environmental factors, we also analyzed how these factors affect neurogenesis and behavior.

The Hippocampal Formation

Neuroanatomy

The hippocampal formation is a large structure in the rat, spanning a substantial part of the brain (Fig. 1) and has extensive connections with many other brain areas. The hippocampal formation is divided into six distinct regions: the dentate gyrus, hippocampus proper (CA1, CA2 and CA3), subiculum, presubiculum, parasubiculum and entorhinal cortex (Amaral and Witter, 1995). These regions are connected through the unidirectional



Figure 1. A three-dimensional drawing of the rat brain. The large, C-shaped structure is the hippocampus (Amaral and Witter, 1995).

tri-synaptic pathway, which has its main input and also output through the entorhinal cortex. The perforant path projects from the entorhinal cortex to the dentate gyrus granule cells. The CA3 field then gets its main input from the dentate gyrus via the mossy fiber pathway. Axons from the pyramidal cells in CA3 form the Schaffer collaterals, which synapse on CA1 pyramidal neurons, which further project to subic-

ulum. Subiculum, in turn, connects the tri-synaptic pathway with the entorhinal cortex and other cortical areas such as the perirhinal, frontal and temporal cortex. These cortical areas are also the main input cortical areas. Many subcortical areas also have connections with the hippocampal formation. Some of them are amygdala, the ventral tegmental area (VTA), the raphe nucleus, locus coeruleus, nucleus accumbens and thalamus. There are also direct connections from the entorhinal cortex to CA3 and CA1 (Amaral and Witter, 1989, 1995). Most cells in the hippocampal formation are glutamatergic (pyramidal and granule cells), but there are also modulatory GABA-ergic interneurons both in the dentate gyrus and hippocampus proper.

The dentate gyrus consists of three layers: the low cell density molecular layer, the granule cell layer with highly packed granule cells, and the polymorphic layer (hilus) (Amaral and Witter, 1995). The main input signals to the dentate gyrus arrive via the perforant path, which makes synapses on dendrites of the granule cells in the molecular layer. The signals in the activated granule cells are modulated by a number of interneurons both in the granule cell layer and hilus, before the signals reach the CA3 field (Fig. 2). The mossy fibers give rise to several collaterals within the hilus region, which make contacts with cells in this area, for instance the mossy cells (glutamatergic) and with pyramidal basket cell dendrites (GABA-ergic) (Halasy and Somogyi, 1993). In addition, mossy cells synapse on granule and basket cell dendrites, and basket cells connect granule cell soma and dendrites. The mossy cells also receive non-hippocampal input from the dopamine cells of the ventral tegmental area, and noradrenergic input from locus coeruleus (Gasbarri et al., 1997; Vizi and Kiss, 1998). The CA3 area also has a connection with mossy cells in the hilus through feed-back glutamatergic connections (Lisman, 1999). Thus, modulation of the granule cell activity is high.





Hippocampal function

The main function of the hippocampal formation relates to learning and memory (Lisman 1999; Riedel et al., 1999) and regulation of mood (Phillips et al., 2003). Learning and memory can be defined as processes where an individual acquires knowledge, skills and experiences which are retained and modified by the brain. Underlying mechanisms for learning and memory are activity-dependent adaptive changes at synaptic and network levels, modified by experience (Kandel, 2001). Hippocampus, being a part of the limbic system, is also highly involved in modulation of mood; for instance, depressed patients have decreased hippocampal volume (Bremner et al., 2000; Videbech and Ravnkilde, 2004).

Hippocampal plasticity

Synaptic plasticity

Hippocampus is a highly adaptable structure, as it constantly reorganizes its functional network, both at synaptic and neuronal network levels in response to changing inputs. Important for learning and memory are long-term potentiation (LTP) and longterm depression (LTD), two forms of long-term synaptic plasticity characterized by an increase or decrease in synaptic strength driven by neuronal activity, respectively (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993; Frey and Morris, 1998; Martin and Kandel, 1996; Martin and Morris, 2002; Silva, 2003; Wittenberg and Tsien, 2002).

Neurogenesis

A central dogma in neuroscience for over 100 years was that new nerve cells are not formed in the adult mammalian brain. Although Altman and colleagues published several papers in the early 1960s to demonstrate the formation of new neurons in hippocampus, neocortex and the olfactory bulb (Altman, 1962; Altman and Das, 1965, 1967), it took many years until there was consensus about this form of plasticity in the adult brain. During the 1960s Nottebohm also demonstrated formation of new nerve cells

in the brain of adult birds (Goldman and Nottebohm, 1983; Paton and Nottebohm, 1984). The discovery of the formation of new neurons in the brains of adult humans in the late 1990s established adult neurogenesis as a major research field (Eriksson et al., 1998). At that time, new techniques, other than radiolabelled thymidine which requires autoradiography, were used. The introduction of the synthetic thymidine analogue BrdU (bromo-deoxy-uridine), which can be detected by immunohistochemistry and analyzed with stereology, was a key development for the findings of new neurons the adult brain (Kempermann et al., 1997; Kuhn et al., 1996).

Adult neurogenesis takes place in two main regions in the brain, the subventricular zone of the lateral ventricles in the forebrain (Alvarez-Buylla and Garcia-Verdugo, 2002) and in the subgranular zone of the dentate gyrus hippocampus. Neurogenesis has now been described in several species and continues throughout life, even though the formation of new cells decreases with age. The formation of new adult nerve cells is a complex process that requires a series of developmental steps beginning with the proliferation of a neuronal stem cell followed by the migration, differentiation, and functional integration of mature cells in neuronal networks (Duman et al., 2001; Jessberger and Kempermann, 2003; Kempermann et al., 2003; Stanfield and Trice, 1988; Zhao et al., 2006). The rate of formation of new cells in the rodent dentate gyrus appears to be relatively high, even though the actual or true number of newborn neurons has been difficult to establish, because of the response to environmental influences. An estimated 100-150 new granule cells are formed each day (Kempermann et al., 1997; van Praag et al., 1999b). This number could be even higher (Cameron and McKay, 2001). Within 1-2 weeks, the cell numbers are reduced by half (Biebl et al., 2000; Gould et al., 1999; Levison et al., 2000; Young et al., 1999) and this death of newly formed cells continues for about one month. Cells that survive the initial month survive long term (Kempermann et al., 2003) and have differentiated into mature neurons, although not fully integrated into the hippocampal system. Maturation and integration of the newly formed neurons into a functional network are crucial for their long-term survival (Linden, 1994). The roles for hippocampal neurogenesis are however not well understood. Formation of new neurons in hippocampus could allow better processing of novel and complex situations (Kempermann, 2002). Since new neurons are integrated into hippocampal networks (van Praag et al., 2002), they are probably also involved in hippocampal functions such as learning and memory (Gould et al., 1999; Schinder and Gage, 2004; Shors et al., 2001, 2002), and the in control of mood and treatment of mood disorders (Malberg et al., 2000; McEwen, 1999).

Stages of neuronal development

The formation of a new fully integrated mature neuron from that of a progenitor cell in the subgranular zone takes several months, and is a complex process with many developmental steps sensitive to different regulatory influences (Fig. 3). Developmental stages can be revealed by detection of specific expression markers and morphology. An asymmetric cell division of a neural stem cell (radial glia-like cells that express markers for nestin and GFAP) is the first step in the neural development in the subgranular zone (SGZ) (Gage, 2000; Gage et al., 1998; Kempermann et al., 2004; Palmer et al., 1997; Rietze et al., 2001). After some days, one daughter progenitor cell becomes lineage-specific and expresses the immature neuronal marker doublecortin (DCX). After additional days of maturation, the neuroblast starts to migrate into the granule cell layer on its way to become a mature granule cell. Between one to three weeks after the first cell division, the immature neurons express both DCX and NeuN (Brown et al., 2003). In the maturation progress, dendrites and axon are formed and importantly, the mature neuron establishes synaptic contacts with other cells. The mature neurons express the mature neuronal marker NeuN. If the cells do not make synaptic contacts, they are lost. Functional integration into the hippocampal neuronal network takes one to two months from the first division. Around 60% till almost 100% of the newly formed cells in the dentate gyrus are neurons, the rest are glial cells (astrocytes) and some cells are also self-renewing stem cells, although the number varies depending on strain, species and gender (Kempermann and Gage, 2002; Perfilieva et al., 2001).



Figure 3. Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of hippocampus. The formation of new neurons can be divided into three major steps; proliferation of a neuronal stem cell in the subgranular zone (SGZ), migration into deeper granule cell layers (GCL) and differentiation, where the mature neuron send out dendrites into the molecular layer (ML) and the axon (mossy fiber) through the hilus to the CA3 field. mfp = mossy fiber pathway (modified from Duman et al., 2001).

Regulation Of Neurogenesis

The focus of this thesis is how ethanol intake, running and environment influence the hippocampal plasticity, and the formation, migration and differentiation of new neurons and also on the modulation of other plasticity genes.

Ethanol consumption

Until recently, ethanol was believed to produce global depression of brain function and to give rise to general effects on cognition and behavior. It was believed that ethanol interacted in a non-specific manner with neuronal membranes. However, it is now clear that ethanol influences cellular activity at different specific levels and also has different effects in different brain regions. Two brain systems that are highly affected by ethanol intake are the mesolimbic dopamine system (Di Chiara and Imperato, 1988) and hippocampus. Activation of the mesolimbic dopamine system is associated with motivation and reward while activation of the hippocampal neural network is involved in memory and emotional processing.

Ethanol and the mesolimbic dopamine system

Dopamine neurons projecting from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) to nucleus accumbens are referred to as the mesolimbic dopamine pathway (Ungerstedt, 1971). Dopamine release in nucleus accumbens (Ungerstedt, 1971) is essential for motivation and reward (Di Chiara and Imperato, 1988; Koob et al., 1998; Wise, 1998). The mesolimbic pathway is, of course, also activated by natural behaviors, such as eating, drinking, mating and physical activity. Chronic treatment with drugs of



Figure 4. The ethanol deprivation model. Mice consume higher levels of ethanol when the bottles are reintroduced after one week of ethanol withdrawal. Ongoing experiment.

abuse induces several morphological and biochemical changes in the mesolimbic pathway (motivation and reward), hippocampus (spatial and emotional memory), amygdala (affective states), caudate-putamen (motor memory), prefrontal cortex and other (integrating and controlling) cortical areas (Ortiz et al., 1995; Robinson and Kolb, 1999). All these areas are tightly functionally linked and together they are responsible for the mediation of motivation, reward, emotional processing and the formation of associative memories. Adaptive changes in these areas caused by ethanol consumption can however lead to life-long vulnerability to relapse. The relapse phenomenon can be investigated in animal models, for instance in the ethanol deprivation model. Animals in this model increase their ethanol intake when ethanol is reintroduced after a period of deprivation, demonstrating craving and possibly an experience of negative effects of ethanol withdrawal (Fig. 4). This animal model can also be used to investigate drug-memories (more discussed in next section) (Spanagel and Holter, 1999).

Ethanol and hippocampus

Ethanol affects hippocampus differently depending on dose and intake pattern. Human imaging studies have demonstrated that the hippocampal volume is decreased in alcoholics (Harding et al., 1997; Harper, 1998; Harper and Kril, 1989, 1991; Kril and Halliday, 1999, Kril et al. 1997). The hippocampal shrinkage is largely accounted for by loss of white matter, while neuronal loss appears insignificant in alcoholics (Harding et al., 1997; Jensen and Pakkenberg, 1993; Kril et al., 1997), even though conflicting data have also been published (Bengochea and Gonzalo, 1990). Animal studies concerning the effects of ethanol on hippocampal neurons are diverse, reflecting the variation in ethanol effect depending on administration pattern and dose. Forced administration of high and/or toxic levels of ethanol has revealed impairment of hippocampal neurogenesis (Nixon and Crews, 2002). On the other hand, voluntary ethanol intake has been shown to have less dramatic effects on the formation of new cells and on learning and memory in hippocampus (Fadda et al., 1999; Kalev-Zylinska and During, 2007).

Long-term plasticity underlying addiction

Long-term brain adaptations may underlie addictive behavior and may be responsible for the establishment of a life-long risk for relapse. Molecular changes have been found primarily in the ventral tegmental area and nucleus accumbens (Hyman, 2005). However, these changes, for instance in CREB and Δ FosB levels, are transient and cannot *per se* be responsible for the life-long changes found in the brain (Nestler, 2002). They could possibly induce changes of other genes leading to lasting effects. Changes at synaptic levels in these areas are also evident after drugs of abuse (Hyman et al., 2006). It is suggested that relapses among drug-addicted individuals involve associative learning (Berke and Hyman, 2000). Animals, for instance, can learn to associate a specific drug or reward to a defined environment or cue (Lett et al., 2000). The persistence of drug abuse may thus reflect the persistence of normal memories. Relapses often occur when addicts meet people, visit places or are exposed to other cues associated with their prior drug use (Berke and Hyman, 2000). These associations are often conditioned emotional responses that can occur many years after taking drugs, thus long after cessation of physical withdrawal symptoms. The persistence of these kinds of memories could hypothetically involve the formation and modulation of new neurons in the dentate gyrus of hippocampus. While the long-lasting drug (and non-drug) memories presumably reside in cortex cerebri, alterations in hippocampus may influence the intensity with which the memory-forming input reaches cortex, and thereby the strength of the engrams, as well as the effectiveness of recall of specific memories. This thesis investigates the association between ethanol consumption and the formation of new neurons in hippocampus and also between ethanol intake and key plasticity genes in the hippocampus.

Physical activity

Physical activity, such as running, has positive effects on general health. It also increases hippocampal neurogenesis, promotes learning and memory and has an antidepressant effect (Bjornebekk et al., 2005; Greist et al., 1979; Morgan, 1985; van Praag et al., 1999a).

Single-housed rats and mice develop a remarkably high running activity over time; rats typically run as much as 10 km/day after approximately ten days of free access to the running wheel (Werme et al., 1999, 2000, 2002). Mice and rats that run these distances have changed levels of neuropeptides and Δ FosB in striatum and nucleus accumbens, and thus show changes similar to those seen following chronic cocaine administration (Werme et al., 2000, 2002). Moreover, rats can be trained to lever-press to get access to running wheels (Iversen, 1993). Animals that run in cages equipped with running wheels are conditioned to prefer an environment that they associate to the aftermath of running (Lett et al., 2000). Such conditioning to the running wheel-associated environment is blocked by the administration of an opioid receptor antagonist (Lett et al., 2001), which suggests that endogenous opioids are involved in conditioning to the running wheels. Taken together, these facts argue that voluntary wheel running can be seen as a model of behavioral addiction (Brené et al., 2007).

Running is not only rewarding and addictive, it can also have antidepressant effects both in humans (Babyak et al., 2000; Martinsen et al., 1985, 1989; Strawbridge et al., 2002) and in rodent models (Brené et al., 2007). In addition, running promotes formation of new cells in hippocampus (van Praag et al., 1999b). However, there are also situations were neurogenesis is unchanged or decreased after running (Bjornebekk et al., 2005; Naylor et al., 2005; Stranahan et al., 2006). In the light of wheel running as a model of a behavioral addiction that also increases hippocampal neurogenesis and improves memory, it was of interest to compare aspects of wheel running with voluntary ethanol consumption with respect to regulation of hippocampal structure and plasticity molecules such as BDNF and components of the Nogo-receptor complex.

Environment

Housing conditions, including interactions with other individuals and objects, have a strong impact on animal condition and behavior (Renner and Rosenzweig, 1987; Wurbel, 2001). In the 1940s Hebb described that rodents in an enriched housing environment performed better in learning and memory tests (Hebb, 1947). In the last decade many reports, in line with Hebb, describe improved learning and memory in enriched rodent environments and also increased cell proliferation and neurogenesis (Kempermann and Gage, 1999; Kempermann et al., 1997; Nilsson et al., 1999; van Praag et al., 1999b, 2000). Deprived environments and social interactions influence animals in different ways depending on context, gender and stress level. Social isolation can be experienced as stressful, particularly in male rodents (Bowman et al., 2001; Conrad et al., 2003; Weiss et al., 2004). The effects of social isolation on neurogenesis also differ between females and males, different test conditions and stress levels (Shors et al., 2007; Weiss et al., 2004; Westenbroek et al., 2003).

Neurotrophins

Nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) and neurotrophin-4 (NT-4) comprise the neurotrophin family (Barde et al., 1982; Cohen, 1960; Ernfors et al., 1990; Hallbook, 1991, 1999). Neurotrophins mediate signaling through the low-affinity receptor p75 (Johnson et al., 1986) and the high-affinity receptors TrkA (NGF) (Martin-Zanca et al., 1986), TrkB (BDNF and NT4) (Klein et al., 1989) and TrkC (NT3) (Lamballe et al., 1991) and they are all important for neuronal growth, survival and differentiation. BDNF is more highly expressed and widely distributed than NGF in the CNS, but both of these and their receptors are expressed in hippocampal neurons (Korsching et al., 1985; Wetmore et al., 1990). Neurotrophic factors have recently been described to be associated with mood disorders (Duman, 2004). In addition, BDNF has also been associated with hippocampal adaptations after antidepressant treatments and physical exercise (Bjornebekk et al., 2005; Neeper et al., 1996; Nibuya et al., 1995). This thesis investigates the modulation of BDNF and NGF in hippocampus after housing in different environments, after physical activity and in correlation to other key plasticity genes, such as the Nogo-receptor.

The Nogo Signalling System

Synaptic plasticity allows the brain to adapt to new situations and to acquire new skills. The Nogo-signaling system plays an important role in controlling axonal growth (Schwab et al., 1993) via the ligands NogoA (Schwab and Bartholdi, 1996), MAG (Lai et al., 1987) and OMgp (Wang et al., 2002b) situated on myelinating oligodendrocytes and neurons (NogoA) and a receptor complex consisting of the Nogo receptor (NgR1-3) and the coreceptor Lingo-1 (Mi et al., 2004) together with either the low-affinity NGF receptor p75 (Watkins and Barres, 2002), or Troy (Fig. 5) (Park et al., 2005). NogoA, MAG and OMgp can all bind to the NgR and thereby activate two different receptor complexes, NgR/ Lingo-1/Troy or NgR/Lingo-1/p75NTR in the axon membrane (McKerracher et al., 1994; Schwab et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2002a). Activation of the receptor complex triggers intracellular RhoA kinases lead-



Figure 5. The Nogo-signalling system. Interactions of the myelin-associated inhibitors (Nogo, MAG and OMgp) with either the TROY/NgR/ Lingo-1 or p75NTR/NgR/Lingo-1 complex activates RhoA causing growth cone collapse. (Ilustration: Mattias Karlén)

ing to growth cone collapse and inhibition of axonal growth (He and Koprivica, 2004; McKerracher and Winton, 2002). NgR-1, co-receptors and ligands are expressed in brain regions displaying a high degree of plasticity such as cerebral cortex and hippocampus (Josephson et al., 2002; Karlén et al., 2007; Lauren et al., 2007; Trifunovski et al., 2004). These regions undergo structural changes at the synaptic level in response to neural activity (Martin and Kandel, 1996). The Nogo-signaling system can be involved in control of axonal outgrowth but also in the regulation of the fine tuning and structural stability of neural networks and synaptic connections (Endo et al., 2007; Josephson et al., 2003; Karlén et al., 2007; McGee et al., 2005; Trifunovski et al., 2004).

The Retinoid Signalling System

The essential role of vitamin A during development is well established and the understanding of the physiological role of retinoid signaling in the adult central nervous system is increasing. Retinoid receptors belong to the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily, which comprises more than sixty members. The retinoic acid receptors (RAR α , β , γ) and the retinoid X receptors (RXR α , β , γ) are ligand-activated transcription factors that mediate physiological effects of retinoids (Chambon, 1994; Krezel et al., 1999; Leid et al., 1993; Mangelsdorf et al., 1990; Zetterstrom et al., 1994, 1999). The retinoic acid receptor has two ligands, the all-trans and 9-cis retinoic acid, whereas 9-cis retinoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid are ligands to the retinoic X receptor. RAR heterodimerizes with RXR and binds to specific DNA sites, while RXR also can bind DNA as a homodimer (Chambon, 1996; Kastner et al., 1997). In addition, RXR can heterodimerize with other transcription factors in the nuclear receptor superfamily and thereby couple retinoid signaling with other signaling pathways (Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995). The wide spectrum of abnormalities caused by vitamin A deficiency is indicative of the broad involvement of retinoids in development and adult physiology. Blindness, infertility and immunological disorders are just some examples of vitamin A deficiency syndromes (Bates, 1995). Functional roles of retinoid signaling have also been demonstrated in the mesolimbic dopamine system (Krezel et al., 1998) and in hippocampus (see Lane and Bailey, 2005). Retinoid signaling is also implicated in disorders of the nervous system such as schizophrenia (Goodman, 1998) and depression (Crandall et al., 2004; Wysowski et al., 2001a, b). Dysfunctional retinoid signaling can trigger cognitive impairments (McCaffery et al., 2003). For instance, LTP and LTD are dependent on retinoid signaling (Chiang et al., 1998; Misner et al., 2001) and vitamin A deficiency causes impaired learning and memory (Cocco et al., 2002; Crandall et al., 2004; Etchamendy et al., 2003). RAR and RXR as well as cellular retinoid-binding proteins and ligands are located in hippocampus (Zetterstrom et al., 1994, 1999) and it has also been demonstrated that they are associated with the formation of new neurons in the dentate gyrus (Crandall et al., 2004; Jacobs et al., 2006; Sakai et al., 2004).

AIMS

The overall aim of this thesis was to increase knowledge about hippocampal plasticity and neurogenesis in relation to both natural and drug-induced reward-generating behaviors. Because addictive behaviors also can be influenced by alterations of social contacts and other environmental factors, we also analyzed how these factors affect neurogenesis and behavior. More specifically, the aims were to:

Investigate how "high" levels of voluntary ethanol intake affects cell proliferation, migration and differentiation in the dentate gyrus of adult mice.

Analyze how "low" constant versus irregular voluntary ethanol intake affects hippocampal neurogenesis.

Analyze the impact of voluntary wheel running on hippocampal neurogenesis and how a putative regulation of neurogenesis associates to expression levels of the plasticity-associated molecules BDNF and Nogosignaling components.

Investigate if forced forebrain Nogo-receptor overexpression affects the development of a running behavior.

Analyze how intermittent changing from group to individual housing, in cages with or without running wheels, affects hippocampal cell survival and BDNF levels.

Investigate whether running, which increases hippocampal neurogenesis, is associated with changes in retinoid receptor activation in hippocampus.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Adult female C57Bl/6 mice were used in paper I and female Balb/C mice were used in papers IV and V. In papers III and VI bitransgenic Nogo-receptor 1-overexpressing mice and transgenic retinoid reporter mice were used, respectively. Adult female Wistar rats were used in paper II. For details about the animals such as weight and age, see the individual papers. All experiments were approved by the local ethical committee for animal research in Stockholm.

Breeding

The retinoid reporter mouse (paper VI)

Retinoid reporter mice (C57Bl/6-129 background) were in paper VI backcrossed with wt C57Bl/6 mice. Tail tips were cut and lysed and DNA was extracted. DNA was amplified using PCR and genotyping was carried out with specific primers.

These mice have an inducible feedback expression system based on the detection of a reporter gene induced by an effector protein (Mata De Urquiza et al., 1999). The effector protein consists of a fusion between the DNA-binding domain of GAL4 and the ligand-binding domain of RAR or RXR. The reporter gene lacZ is combined with the effector gene in a single plasmid cassette. The effector-reporter genes are expressed from the same promoter elements consisting of GAL4 binding sites and minimal hsp promoters. Detection of activation is possible in all brain areas since the promoter is ubiquitously expressed (Mata De Urquiza et al., 1999; Misner et al., 2001; Solomin et al., 1998). The basal expression of the effector-reporter genes is low, but in the presence of ligand an autoregulatory feedback loop develops. The ligand-activated effector proteins will then upregulate its own expression and also the reporter gene expression. Thus, these mice will only express β -galactosidase when the RAR or RXR ligand-binding domain is activated by ligands.

The nogo overexpressing mouse (paper III)

A DNA fragment (5.2 kB) from a pTRE-NgR plasmid was microinjected into pronuclei of fertilized mouse eggs from C57Bl/6 (MouseCamp, Stockholm, Sweden). CamKII-tTA mice (The Jackson Laboratory) were crossbred with pTRE-NgR mice to obtain bitransgenic mice with tissue-specific overexpression of NgR-1 in forebrain neurons (Karlén et al., 2007).

Housing conditions

All animals in this thesis were kept alone in their cages, except for the group-housed control animals in papers IV and V. The reason for individual housing in the ethanol con-

sumption experiments is that the animals consume more ethanol if they are kept one to a cage (Deatherage, 1972; Schenk et al., 1990; Wolffgramm, 1990; Yanai and Ginsburg, 1976) and the ease of measuring individual ethanol consumption. Likewise, wheel runners were kept individually in order to obtain individual running data. In papers IV and V it was investigated how an intermittent housing regime, in which mice were singlehoused with or without running wheels every second day, and every other second day social-housed (4 mice/cage) affects brain neurotrophins, corticosteroids levels as well as cell proliferation. It was also analyzed how constant social or individual housing affects cell survival of newly proliferated hippocampal cells (manuscript in preparation).

Standard environment

The standard environment consisted of a Macrolon cage (40.5 \times 25.5 \times 14.5 cm) with 50 ml of wood chips bedding (Fig. 6).



Figure 6. Standard environment

Enhanced environment

The enhanced cage environment consisted of a standard cage plus an egg-box carton, two Kleenex[®] tissues and two gnawing sticks. The mice had free access to food and tap water and the cage materials were renewed when necessary. For more details, see papers IV and V (Fig. 7).



Figure 7. Enhanced environment

Ethanol administration paradigms

Two different ethanol administration protocols were used in this thesis, the two-bottle free-choice model during shorter (4 and 14 days) and longer (2 months) continuous periods and also experiments in which withdrawal phases were introduced (papers I and II). Female individually housed mice and rats were used. Female mice and rats drink more ethanol than male mice and rats (unpublished results; Middaugh et al., 1999) and individually housed animals drink more than group housed animals (Deatherage, 1972; Schenk et al., 1990; Wolffgramm, 1990; Yanai and Ginsburg, 1976). Lights were completely on at 7 a.m. and completely of at 8 p.m., preceded by one hour of dawn and one hour of twilight, respectively. The animals had free access to food.

The two-bottle free-choice model

The two-bottle free-choice model allows the animals to choose to drink ethanol or water (Fig. 8). Such voluntary ethanol intake may possibly reflect human consumption patterns better than forced ethanol delivery protocols. Forced ethanol models are by definition involuntarily and reflect the effects of ethanol per se but also imposes stress on the animal. In the model used in this thesis, there are two bottles in each cage, one with ethanol (10% v/v, paper I, or 5% v/v, paper II) and one with tap water. The weight of the bottles was recorded at least three times a week and the positions of the bottles were changed at every weighing occasion to avoid side conditioning. New ethanol (99.9% ethanol and tap water) solutions were prepared once a week.



Figure 8. A schematic illustration of the two-bottle free-choice model. The animals in the ethanol group could voluntarily choose to drink from a water bottle or an ethanol bottle. The control animals had two bottles of water.

Ethanol withdrawal

In paper I, one ethanol withdrawal episode was introduced three days before sacrifice to investigate how it influenced cell proliferation. In paper II, four repeated irregular ethanol withdrawal phases, each phase consisting of three days, were introduced during a two-month voluntary ethanol consumption experiment in the two-bottle free-choice model.

Blood alcohol concentration

To determine blood ethanol concentrations (paper I), when the animals were sacrificed, trunk blood was taken and collected in heparinized tubes. The tubes were centrifuged at 3200 rpm for 10 minutes and serum was assayed for ethanol using the NAD:NADH enzyme spectrophotometric method (Sigma Diagnostics, MO, USA).

Plasma corticosterone analyses

Trunk blood was collected from each animal and centrifuged for plasma. Plasma samples were stored at -20°C until analyses for corticosterone concentration using a commercially available radioimmunoassay kit (Coat-A-Count Rat Corticosterone, Diagnostic Products Corporation, Belgium) (paper IV).

Wheel running

Interactions between wheel-running, cell proliferation and neurogenesis as well as correlations between running and brain neurotrophins, the retinoid system and the Nogosignalling system were investigated in papers III–VI. Different running periods, from one week to two months, and access to the wheels were investigated in papers III–VI.

Mice were placed in individual cages $(22 \times 16 \times 14 \text{ cm})$ with free access to running wheels (12.4 cm in circumference, one revolution corresponding to 39 cm; Fig. 9). Running data were collected every 30 minutes using customized software. Lights were completely on at 7 a.m. and completely of at 8 p.m., preceded by one hour dawn and one hour twilight, respectively. The animals had free access to food and water.



Figure 9. The running-wheel set-up. The individually housed mice had free access to the running wheel.

LABORAS

A behavioral profile of mice was obtained in paper V using the LABORAS system (Laboratory Animal Behaviour Observation Registration and Analysis System, Metris, Netherlands). Locomotion, velocity and total distance moved were registered. Briefly, mice were individually placed in clean cages with bedding, food and water on sensing platforms for 30 min. The animal movements were automatically registered.

Elevated-plus maze

The apparatus (made of dark grey polyvinyl chloride) consists of four arms $(30 \times 5 \text{ cm})$ extending from the central area $(5 \times 5 \text{ cm})$ and elevated 1 m above the floor (TSE systems, Bad Homburg, Germany). Ten-centimeter-high walls enclose two opposing arms, whereas the other two arms have no walls. The animals were tested in the elevated plusmaze between 9–12 a.m. during the light period. Before testing, animals were brought to the experimental room and allowed to habituate to the new environment for at least 60 minutes prior to testing. Animals were placed in the central area facing one open arm and monitored for 5 minutes by a video-tracking system (TSE systems). The plus-maze was carefully cleaned with 70% ethanol between each animal. Time spent in closed arms, open arms and in the central area was recorded as well as total distance traveled during the experiment (locomotion index) and the number of entries into closed and open arms (exploration index).

Cell proliferation, migration and neurogenesis detection

There are several different strategies for detection of newly proliferated cells, cell distribution, cell survival and neurogenesis (Altman and Das, 1967; Brown et al., 2003; Cameron and McKay, 2001; Duman et al., 2001; Hastings and Gould, 1999; Kempermann et al., 2004; Kornack and Rakic, 1999; Nakagawa et al., 2002). Some of these were used in this thesis.

BrdU labeling

The thymidine analogue Bromo-deoxy-uridine (BrdU), which is incorporated during the S-phase of DNA synthesis, was administered (i.p. injections) according to different regimes to detect cell proliferation, cell distribution, cell survival and neurogenesis (papers I, III and IV).

Two BrdU injections (i.p.) were administered three days before sacrifice to detect cell proliferation (papers I and III).

BrdU was also administered around two weeks from sacrifice to detect newly formed cells that had survived for two weeks and also for detection of neurogenesis (papers I and IV).

Ki-67 labeling

Another strategy for detection of newly proliferated cells is to label them with a Ki-67 antibody, which binds to a large nuclear protein expressed during all active phases of the cell cycle (G_1 , S, G_2 and M phase). Ki-67 immunoreactivity thus reflects the presence of mitotic cells at the time of sacrifice (paper II).

Doublecortin labeling

Doublecortin is expressed in young immature neurons and doublecortin immunoreactivity at the time of sacrifice, and therefore reflects the presence of newly formed immature neurons (papers II and VI).

Sample preparation

Brains from animals used in this thesis were dissected out and frozen instantly, or obtained after formalin perfusion.

Fresh frozen tissue

At the end of the experiments, the animals were killed by decapitation and the brain was removed and rapidly placed on ice before being stored at -80°C for subsequent histological analyses.

Perfusion of tissue

Animals were deeply anesthetized with pentobarbital in the morning and perfused intracardially with 50 ml Ca²-free Tyrode's solution including 0.1 ml heparin. This was followed by 50 ml of fixative (4% paraformaldehyde and 0.4% picric acid in 0.16 M PBS, pH 7.4) at forced pressure, followed by 250 ml of the same fixative over a period of 15 min. Brains were dissected, divided and postfixed in the same fixative for 1 hr at room temperature and subsequently rinsed in 0.1 M PBS with 10% sucrose and 0.1% sodium azide several times during 48 hr. The brains were stored in the last-mentioned solution at 4°C before cryosectioning.

Immunohistochemistry

Serial coronal 30- μ m sections were cut on a cryostat through the entire hippocampus beginning at -0.94 mm from bregma and ending at -3.88 mm from bregma (Franklin and Paxinos, 1997). Every tenth section (papers I, II, III and IV) or every fifth section (paper VI) was processed for immunohistochemistry.

BrdU immunohistochemistry (papers I, III, IV)

For BrdU immunohistochemistry, sections were post-fixed in 4% formaldehyde in PBS for 10 minutes, rinsed in PBS followed by incubation in 2 M HCl for 30 min at 37°C to increase exposure of intranuclear BrdU epitopes to the primary antibody. After washing

in PBS, sections were blocked in a blocking solution (10% goat serum in 0.1 % Tween in PBS) overnight at 4°C. Sections were then incubated for 90 min at room temperature with the primary antibody against BrdU (rat anti-BrdU, Harlan Seralab, 1:100) diluted in the blocking solution, followed by 3×30 min 0.1 % Tween PBS rinses. Sections were next incubated with biotinylated goat anti-rat biotin (Vector Laboratories, 1:200) in the blocking solution for 60 min at room temperature. After another series of rinses (0.1 % Tween PBS, 90 min), avidin-biotin (Vector Laboratories) was administered for 40 min followed by rinses in PBS alone for 1 hour, and visualization using DAB (Sigma). The sections were counterstained with hematoxyline (Vector Laboratories) and mounted.

Doublecortin immunohistochemistry (papers II and VI)

Doublecortin immunohistochemistry was performed to detect newly formed cells with a phenotype of young neurons in the dentate gyrus. The sections were incubated with a blocking solution (1.5 % horse serum) 1 hour at room temperature. After washing in PBS the primary antibody (goat anti-doublecortin, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., 1:50) was applied for 48 hours at 4°C. After another series of rinses with PBS, sections were incubated with a secondary antibody (biotinylated anti-goat IgG, Vector Laboratories, 1:200). This was followed by rinses in PBS, incubation with avidin-biotin (Vector Laboratories) for 60 min and DAB (Sigma) staining.

Ki-67 immunohistochemistry (paper II)

Ki-67 immunohistochemistry was used to evaluate cell proliferation in the subgranular zone of the dentate gyrus. Sections were pretreated in 10 mM citrate buffert (10 mM Nacitrate buffer/0.05% Tween, pH 6.0) for 30 min at 95°C to increase exposure of Ki-67 epitopes in nuclei to the primary antibody. After washing in PBS, sections were blocked in a blocking solution (10% goat serum in 0.6% triton/PBS) for 1 hour at room temperature. Sections were then incubated with the primary antibody (rabbit anti-Ki-67, Dako-Cytomation, Denmark, 1:300, diluted in blocking solution for 48 hours at 4°C. After rinses in PBS, sections were incubated with biotinylated anti-rabbit IgG (Vector Laboratories, 1:200) in blocking solution for 60 min at room temperature. After another series of rinses in PBS for 1 hour, and visualization using DAB (Sigma). Sections were counterstained with hematoxyline (Vector Laboratories) and mounted.

BrdU/NeuN and BrdU/S100 β double labeling (paper I)

For immunofluorescence double-labeling of BrdU/NeuN and BrdU/S100 β , where NeuN is a marker for neurons and S100 β a marker for glial cells, the same protocol as described for BrdU immunohistochemistry was used, adding one antibody at a time. Primary antibodies used for immunofluorescence were: NeuN (mouse anti-NeuN, Chemicon, 1:1500) and S100 β (rabbit anti-S100 β , Swant, Bellizona, Switzerland, 1:100). Second-

ary antibodies were: FITC (donkey anti-rat FITC, Jackson, 1:200), Cy3 (donkey antimouse Cy3, Jackson, 1:800 or donkey anti-rabbit Cy3, Jackson, 1:400). Co-localizations of BrdU/NeuN and BrdU/S100 β were detected on two sections/animal (-2.06 mm from bregma – -2.30 mm from bregma (Franklin and Paxinos, 1997) where all cells on one side were investigated for co-localization using a number-weighted sample of BrdU-immunoreactive cells and confocal microscopy (Zeiss).

β -galactosidase and β -galactosidase/Nurr1 immunohistochemistry (paper VI)

Serial coronal 14- μ m sections were cut on a cryostat starting at –1.58 mm from bregma and ending at at –2.30 from bregma (Franklin and Paxinos, 1997). Immunohistochemistry was performed on every fifth section to detect RAR/RXR activation or co-localization between RXR activation (β -galactosidase-immunoreactivity) and Nurr1-immunoreactivity (paper IV).

Briefly, sections were incubated with the primary β -galactosidase antibody or a mixture of β -galactosidase antibody and Nurr1 antibody (chicken anti- β -galactosidase, Chemicon, 1:2000 and rabbit anti-Nurr1, E-20: sc 990, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., 1:100) 72 hours at 4°C. Sections were then incubated with biotinylated anti-chicken antibodies or a mixture of anti-chicken antibodies and anti-rabbit antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch, 1:500 or donkey anti-chicken CY3, Jackson, 1:400 and donkey anti-rabbit CY2, Jackson, 1:200) for 60 min at room temperature. After a series of rinses in PBS, avidinbiotin (Vector Laboratories) was administered for 60 min followed by rinses in PBS and visualization using DAB (Sigma).

TUNEL staining

Detection of apoptotic cells (paper I) was made on two sections from every individual (-2.06 mm from bregma – -2.30 mm from bregma (Franklin and Paxinos, 1997)) using an in situ TUNEL cell death detection kit (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Germany). TUNEL detects free 3' DNA ends, which is indicative of a DNA fragmentation. Briefly, sections were fixed in 4% formaldehyde for 20 minutes followed by incubation in a blocking solution (0.3% H_2O_2 in methanol) for 30 minutes. The sections were then incubated in a permeabilization solution (0.1% triton, 0.1% sodium citrate) at room temperature for 30 minutes followed by the TUNEL reaction for 1 hour at 37°C.

ELISA

BDNF and NGF protein levels were investigated in paper V in different brain areas using an ELISA assay kit (Promega). Briefly, 96-well ELISA plates were incubated overnight at 4°C with the neurotrophin antibody of interest followed by a second incubation with a secondary antibody and later with a species-specific antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase. A TMB solution was used to develop color in the wells. The absorbance was recorded at 450 nm. The neurotrophin values were evaluated by comparisons to standard curves. Using this kit, the BDNF and NGF protein levels could be quantified in the range of 7.8–500 pg/ml.

Stereology

The "optical fractionator" was used to count BrdU-immunoreactive cells in the dentate gyrus (West and Gundersen, 1990; West et al., 1991). Briefly, every tenth section was systematically sampled (section sampling fraction [ssf] = 1/10) after randomly selecting the first section within the first interval. An unbiased counting frame with a known area was superimposed on the field of view by appropriate software (Stereologer[®], SPA inc.). Counting frames were systematically distributed with known x and y steps throughout the marked region from a random starting point. The area of the counting frame relative to the area associated with the x and y steps gives the second fraction (area sampling fraction [asf]). The height of the optical dissector relative to the thickness of the section results in the third fraction (height [h] / thickness [t]). The total number of neurons is given by

$$N_{total} = \sum Q \cdot \frac{1}{ssf} \cdot \frac{1}{asf} \cdot \frac{h}{t}$$

where $\sum Q$ is the number of neurons counted in the dissectors.

Optical fractionator estimates are free of assumptions about cellular shape and size and are unaffected by tissue shrinkage. The dentate gyrus including an area exceeding the subgranular zone by two cell diameters and an area exceeding the molecular layer by one cell diameter was manually outlined using a $10 \times \text{lens}$. Cell counts were performed with a $60 \times \text{lens}$ (numerical aperture = 1.4). The rostral and caudal half of the systematic random sample of sections were defined as the rostral or caudal part of the dentate gyrus. The separation between the rostral and caudal part was made at -2.41 mm from bregma (Franklin and Paxinos, 1997).

In situ hybridization

High stringency in situ hybridization (Dagerlind et al, 1992) was performed on 30- μ m coronal sections thawed onto glass slides after cryosectioning. In situ hybridization was carried out with radioactive oligonucleotide DNA probes (for more information about the probes used, see papers II, III, and V). The probes were 3'-end labeled with α -³³[P]-dATP (Dupont NEN, Wilmington, DE, USA) using terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (Gibco) to a specific activity of approximately 1×10^9 c.p.m./mg. Hybridization was performed for 18 h in a humidified chamber at 42°C. The hybridization cocktail contained 50% formamide, $4 \times$ SSC (1 × SSC is, in M, NaCl, 0.15; sodium citrate, 0.015, pH 7.0), 1 × Denhardt's solution, 1% Sarcosyl, 0.02 M Na₃PO₄, pH 7.0, 10% dextransulphate, 0.06 M dithiothreitol and 0.1 mg/mL sheared salmon sperm DNA. Follow-

ing hybridization, sections were rinsed 4×20 min in $1 \times SSC$ at $60^{\circ}C$. Finally, sections were rinsed in autoclaved water for 10 s, dehydrated in alcohol and air-dried. Thereafter, the slides were exposed for X-ray film (Kodak Biomax MR film, Kodak, Rochester, NY, USA) and developed for quantification (for exposure times, see papers II, III, and V). Films were scanned and optical density values of regions of interest were quantified using appropriate software (Image J v. 1.32j, http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/). A ¹⁴ [C] step standard (Amersham, Buckinghamshire, UK) was included to calibrate optical density readings and convert measured values to nCi/g. Measurements were performed on two sections per animal and on both hemispheres and a mean value was calculated for each animal. Data were expressed as means \pm SEM.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results of papers I–VI are summarized and discussed below. For detailed descriptions, see appended publications and manuscripts.

Voluntary ethanol intake affects hippocampal plasticity (papers I and II)

In papers I and II the effects of voluntary ethanol consumption on hippocampal plasticity were investigated. In particular, we studied the effects of ethanol on cell proliferation, migration and differentiation. Ethanol was made available during either short or long periods with constant or irregular exposure patterns. We also analyzed the effect of ethanol on the Nogo-signaling system in hippocampus.

Ethanol in our experiments is always available together with water. Animals can therefore always choose to drink water or ethanol. This two-bottle choice protocol is an attempt to mimic human alcohol consumption patterns. We varied ethanol concentrations, exposure time and withdrawal periods. Voluntary ethanol consumption is a very complex behavior. The animals will learn to consume ethanol and to associate the physiologic response to the consumption. Animals presumably develop an emotional relation to the effects of ethanol that includes the wanting, the reward, the withdrawal and other effects of ethanol that will engage different brain structures. Forced ethanol intake, including injections of ethanol, to rats and mice does not readily resemble these aspects of human ethanol consumption. One should keep this in mind, because forced and voluntary ethanol intake protocols can lead to markedly different results in animal experiments, and the forced intake protocols may not always be good models of alcoholism.

Ethanol intake is associated with changes of cell proliferation and neurogenesis

In paper I we investigated whether voluntary moderate to high levels of ethanol intake in single-housed female C57BL/6 mice could influence cell proliferation, migration and differentiation in the dentate gyrus. We also analyzed if ethanol withdrawal influenced cell proliferation. In paper II we further investigated cell proliferation and neurogenesis after two months of continuous voluntary low ethanol intake with or without four unpredictable withdrawal periods within the same time frame.

Two months of voluntary consumption of ethanol offered at a relatively high concentration (10% v/v) resulted in moderate-high ethanol intake (6 g/kg/day) in adult C57Bl/6 mice, and caused increased cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus. Voluntary consumption of a lower concentration of ethanol (5% v/v) resulted in lower total ethanol intake levels (1.8 g/kg/day) and no change in cell proliferation or neurogenesis in adult Wistar rats. Interestingly, one withdrawal phase introduced after continuous voluntary high ethanol intake in mice resulted in a decrease of cell proliferation down to con-

trol levels. In parallel, decreased neurogenesis was also detected in Wistar rats subjected to four irregular withdrawal phases during low ethanol consumption in the two-bottle free-choice model.

In paper I, cell proliferation and cell survival was detected in animals by administration of the tymidine analogue BrdU, which is incorporated in DNA during the S-phase of the cell cycle. In paper II we used another strategy to detect newly formed cells and young neurons based on specific antibodies to detect Ki-67, which is expressed in all newly proliferated cells, and DCX, which is expressed in young immature neurons (maximum two-three weeks old). BrdU injections three days before sacrifice labels cells that were born close to the time point of injection such that the BrdU-immunoreactive cells found at sacrifice reflect cells born the last three days before sacrifice. Injection of BrdU two weeks before sacrifice gives the opportunity after sacrifice to visualize BrdU-immunoreactive cells that have survived for two weeks. Co-localiszation of BrdU-immunoreactivity with neuronal or glial markers allows phenotypic characterization of newly formed neurons and glial cells.

To investigate if the ethanol-induced increased neurogenesis was a compensatory response to increased cell death in hippocampus after ethanol (Pawlak et al., 2002; Zharkovsky et al., 2003) we performed TUNEL staining for detection of apoptotic cells. There was no difference in number of apoptotic cells between ethanol and control groups. We also analyzed if newly formed cells were particularly sensitive to ethanol by administering BrdU one day before the ethanol bottles were put into the cages, and then sacrificing the animals after four days of voluntary ethanol consumption. Again, there was no group difference. We thus found no evidence for increased cell death in the dentate gyrus in the two-bottle free-choice ethanol model. In paper II we also allowed animals to consume ethanol in the two-bottle free-choice model for a shorter period of time (14 days). In line with paper I, there was no difference between the two groups in cell proliferation or neurogenesis. Thus, moderate ethanol consumption during shorter periods is not neurogenic, nor does it increase death of cells in the dentate gyrus in adult mice.

Exposure to ethanol could hypothetically change the relative proportion of newly formed neurons versus glial cells. We investigated this possibility by phenotypic characterization of BrdU-positive cells using NeuN and S100 β -immunoreactivity to label neurons and glia respectively. There was no difference between the relative numbers of newly formed neurons and glial cells after two months of ethanol consumption. Finally, we examined whether the distribution of newly formed cells in the dentate granule cell layers differed between the two groups. We then divided the granule cell layer into three defined areas (see paper I) and analyzed the cell distribution. Again, there was no difference in distribution of the newly formed cells in the dentate granule cell layers between the groups. Taken together, these experiments do not indicate any ethanol-induced disturbances of

survival, location or fate of newly formed cells, suggesting that it is the rate of cell formation *per se* that was influenced.

The dose and administration pattern is important for how ethanol affects hippocampal cell proliferation and neurogenesis. Previous studies have shown that toxic levels of ethanol decrease cell proliferation and neurogenesis in hippocampus (Nixon and Crews, 2002). Also important is how ethanol is administered, if the animal is forced to drink/eat ethanol/ethanol pellets or if ethanol is injected or given orally via gavage. We found that the formation and survival of new cells is unchanged if Wistar rats voluntarily consume low levels of ethanol on a daily basis. There are also other experiments describing that administration of constant moderate levels of ethanol in the diet does not affect neurogenesis (Kalev-Zylinska and During, 2007). In addition, studies on human alcoholics demonstrate that even though they consumed high levels of ethanol, there were no neuronal losses in hippocampus (Harding et al., 1997; Jensen and Pakkenberg, 1993; Korbo, 1999; Kril et al., 1997). Here we demonstrate in both mice and rats and at two different voluntary ethanol consumption doses (6 g/kg/day and 1.8 g/kg/day) that there is no decrease in neurogenesis after constant voluntary ethanol intake. Further, no increase in cell death was found in mice consuming relatively high levels of ethanol.

Our data suggest that moderate voluntary ethanol intake, during shorter or longer periods, does not cause any marked decrease of hippocampal cell proliferation or neurogenesis, nor does it alter migration or differentiation of newly formed cells. In fact, under certain circumstances ethanol consumption can lead to increased cell proliferation and neurogenesis as demonstrated in paper I. We suggest that one key effect of moderate voluntary ethanol intake may be to act as an antidepressant. If animals are kept under circumstances that decrease mood, such as single-housing conditions, then sufficient amounts of ethanol may increase mood and hence neurogenesis. If decreased mood is less likely, or the doses of ethanol are too low, then neurogenesis is not affected. Finally, if ethanol doses are very high, as can be the case in forced ethanol administration models, then direct effects of ethanol may instead depress neurogenesis

Decreased numbers of DCX-immunoreactive young nerve cells in Wistar rats and of newly proliferated BrdU-positive cells in C57BL/6 mice were detected when the continuous voluntary ethanol access was interrupted. In the mice, it was a single three-day ethanol withdrawal, and in rats four irregular three-days withdrawal phases. The animals exposed to repeated withdrawal phases decreased ethanol intake successively with withdrawal phases. These animals and the animals that were exposed to one withdrawal phase could possibly experience the withdrawal phase/phases as stressful, as the ethanol bottles were withdrawn in an unpredictable pattern. Hypothetically, such stress could trigger a stress-induced decrease of neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus. Our data suggest that it is not the amount of alcohol consumed *per se* that determines the rate of neurogenesis, but

rather the availability and the stress of irregular access to ethanol that matters. Weight is a good overall measure of animal well-being and we found that animals exposed to irregular access to ethanol gained almost 30% more weight compared to animals with constant access and animals without any access to ethanol during the whole experiment. Chronic mild stress is often associated with decreased body weight (Harris et al., 1997; Kubera et al., 1998; Levine and Morley, 1981; Matthews et al., 1995; Zelena et al., 1999), but increased body weight is seen under certain circumstances of mild stress (Nagaraja and Jeganathan, 2002; Tonissaar et al., 2007; Zelena et al., 1999). In humans, depression tends to lead to altered body weight with either gain or loss of weight (Dragan and Akhtar-Danesh, 2007; Gecici et al., 2005).

Stress is a factor that can induce depression, anxiety and very reproducibly decreases hippocampal neurogenesis (Czeh et al., 2001; Gould et al., 1997; McEwen, 1999). If irregular withdrawal phases are a form of mild stress, it is possible that the observed decreased neurogenesis in hippocampus is a result of such stress.

The decreased neurogenesis found after irregular ethanol intake might also be related to the high caloric intake, since there are links between caloric intake, body weight and neurogenesis. Decreased caloric intake increases neurogenesis while high caloric intake decreases neurogenesis (Mattson et al., 2003). Interaction between mild stress and high caloric intake may have caused the decreased neurogenesis in the Wistar rats.

Modulations of cell proliferation and neurogenesis were also found after relatively high ethanol intake (6 g/kg/day) in C57BL/6 mice. Daily ethanol intake doses like these are considered high (Spanagel, 2003) and correspond to approximately 6 bottles of wine every day in humans. However, the absorbance, metabolism and clearance in rodents is rapid and almost six times as high as in humans (Adalsteinsson et al., 2006; Wartburg, 1976). We speculate that the formation of new neurons during high ethanol intake could be involved in long-term adaptive changes of the hippocampal network.

We conclude that shorter or longer periods of low ethanol consumption can influence cell proliferation and neurogenesis. However, it is likely that it is rather the context in which the ethanol is consumed and not necessarily the dose of ethanol consumed that predicts how hippocampal neurogenesis will be affected by alcohol. To speculate, high ethanol intake could possibly result in adaptive changes of hippocampal networks that ultimately code for drug memories that can be involved in the recognition of different cues that associates to ethanol and that can trigger to craving and relapse conditions.

Ethanol intake down-regulates Nogo-receptor component in hippocampus (paper II)

The Nogo-signaling system is involved in inhibition of axonal growth, restricts axonal plasticity and is important for synaptic plasticity and thus rearrangements of neuronal networks (Chivatakarn et al., 2007; Endo et al., 2007; Josephson et al., 2003; Karlén et

al., 2007; Lavebratt et al., 2006; McGee et al., 2005; Schwab et al., 1993; Trifunovski et al., 2004).

In paper II we investigated the association between ethanol intake and the Nogo-system. We found that ethanol intake with irregular ethanol access down-regulates the Nogo-receptor 1 (NgR-1) in CA3 of hippocampus and that uninterrupted ethanol intake was associated with a trend in the same direction. Lingo-1 also appeared down-regulated in CA3, although not significantly so, after irregular and constant low ethanol intake experiments. It is tempting to speculate that down-regulation of Nogo-receptor components reflect ongoing hippocampal synaptic structural plasticity, since NgR-1 has previously been shown to be down-regulated in situations of increased neuronal activity and plasticity (Endo et al., 2007; Josephson et al., 2002, 2003).

Running is associated with hippocampal plasticity

All animals in the wheel-running experiments were single-housed and had free access to a running wheel during the whole experimental period and could thus run on a voluntary basis. Control animals were housed in the same type of cages, but without running wheels.

Wheel running influences cell proliferation and neurogenesis in hippocampus (papers III-VI)

Male mice in paper III had access to running wheels during one or four weeks. Interestingly, running for both one and four weeks increased cell proliferation in the dentate gyrus. Running for one week induced a stronger increase in cell proliferation compared to running for four weeks. Running during longer periods, in this case two months (paper VI) also enhanced hippocampal reorganization. A two-fold increase in neurogenesis was found in male mice after two months of constant access to running wheels and the increase in neurogenesis was positively correlated to running distance. It appears, however, that access to a running wheel in the cage does not always predict an increase in cell proliferation and neurogenesis. An example that we provide for this statement in paper IV is that when animals are group-housed in a standard environment every second day and housed in a cage containing a running wheel every other day, there is no increase in the number of newly proliferated cells that survive for at least 14 days. Instead there is an increased number of surviving cells in animals that were group-housed every second day in a standard environment and single-housed in cages without running wheels every other day. To further increase the complexity, when mice are group-housed in an enhanced environment every second day and housed in a cage with a running wheel every other day, wheel runners do indeed have an increased survival of BrdU-positive cells in the dentate gyrus compared to intermittent runners under standard housing conditions. Thus, as with the ethanol consumption models in papers I and II, it is evident that it is

the circumstances around the putatively rewarding behavior, be it ethanol consumption or wheel running, that determine whether there will be a change in hippocampal cell proliferation or neurogenesis.

In line with previous observations (van Praag et al., 1999b) we found that running can increase cell proliferation and neurogenesis in dentate gyrus. However, our mice were single-housed, while the mice in the van Praag study were group-housed. Single-housed Sprague-Dawley rats were recently found not to increase neurogenesis in response to running, while group-housed rats did, after 12 days of running (Stranahan et al., 2006). However, 2 months of running increased neurogenesis in both single-housed and group-housed animals (Stranahan et al., 2007). We show that male single-housed C57BL/6 mice do increase cell proliferation and neurogenesis in response to running both shorter and longer periods. The female BalbC mice in paper IV increased the running distance per day if they were group-housed every second day in enhanced environment compared to runners every second day housed in standard conditions.

Hence, our results together with those of others support the notion that many different factors, such as gender, strain, species, housing conditions and time of access to the rewarding activity, determines whether the behavior will lead to a change of hippocampal cell proliferation/neurogenesis or not (Bjornebekk et al., 2005; Holmes et al., 2004; Naylor et al., 2005; Stranahan et al. 2007).

Wheel running, BDNF, NGF, the Nogo-system and neurogenesis (papers III, IV and V)

Increases of neurotrophin expressions were found after both short- and long-term running in paper III, where also an increase in cell proliferation was detected. Wheel running one week and four weeks induced higher levels of BDNF mRNA in hippocampus compared to controls. Intermittent running in papers IV and V also increased BDNF mRNA and in addition NGF mRNA levels as well as the protein levels of both BDNF and NGF in hippocampus (papers IV and V). Thus, an increased neuronal activity in hippocampus was accompanied by robust increased neutrophin activity. However, all different conditions causing increased BDNF levels associated with running were not always associated with increased hippocampal cell proliferation and neurogenesis. Thus, there is no absolute correlation between increased BDNF levels and increased hippocampal cell proliferation and neurogenesis.

The higher degree of cell proliferation found after one week compared to four weeks of running suggests that the cellular hippocampal network reorganizes the most at the beginning of a new situation, in this case running in running wheels for the first time. The Nogo-system has previously been shown to be important for inhibition of axonal growth, axonal plasticity and most likely also learning and memory (Chivatakarn et al., 2007; Endo et al., 2007; Josephson et al., 2003; Karlén et al., 2007; Lavebratt et al.,

2006; McGee et al., 2005; Schwab et al., 1993; Trifunovski et al., 2004). Nogo-receptor 1 was down-regulated after one week, but not after four weeks of running, suggesting that the Nogo-receptor 1 is involved in the adaptive changes associated with learning a new skill. Down-regulation of Nogo-receptor 1 presumably facilitates synaptic reorganisation in hippocampus (Endo et al., 2007; Karlén et al., 2007). We used Nogo-receptor 1-overexpressing mice to investigate how the Nogo-signaling system might be involved in the establishment of a running behavior. The Nogo-receptor 1-overexpressing mouse was developed to investigate the role of Nogo-receptor regulation in memory formation (Karlén et al., 2007). Here we investigated if running behavior was altered in NgR-1overexpressing mice, where the receptor thus could not be down-regulated, which we have hypothesized is important for plasticity, in a situation when both hippocampal cell proliferation and BDNF levels are increased. Interestingly, animals with an overexpressed NgR-1 did not develop a running behavior like control animals did. Control animals increased the daily running from week one to week two whereas transgenic animals did not. The running behavior in control animals declined after week two, even though there was no significant decrease. The transgenic animals, on the other hand, decreased running distance per day after week two until the end of the experiment. It thus seems as if overexpression of the NgR-1 has a large impact on running behavior, especially the first two weeks, when the running behavior becomes established as a learned behavior and neuronal adaptations occur.

In summary, voluntary running behavior in naïve mice could be associated with alterations in the Nogo-signaling system and neurotrophins, genes that are important for brain plasticity. Interestingly, these alterations occur when reorganizations, cell proliferation and neurogenesis, all induced by running, are high. This suggests that cell proliferation may be influenced by the Nogo-system. A further indication of a link between running and the Nogo-system was the demonstration that NgR-1-overexpressing mice were unable to develop a normal running behavior, which suggests impaired capacity to learn the excessive running behavior.

Intermittent changing from group to single housing is associated with increased cell proliferation and neurogenesis (papers IV and V)

Housing is one factor known to affect hippocampal neurogenesis. In papers IV and V we analyzed female Balb/c mice that were group-housed in two different conditions, enhanced or standard housing. Every second day the animals were single-housed in cages with or without a running wheel (papers IV and V). Cell survival in group versus individually housed C57BL/6 mice was investigated in another set of experiments (manuscript in preparation). These mice were also tested for anxiety-like behavior in the elevated-plus maze.

Intermittent individual housing increased the number newly formed cells that survived for 14 days as compared to constant social housing. Surprisingly, intermittent individual housing with a running wheel counteracted the increased cell survival. Constant individual housing did not affect cell survival compared to constant social housing. The increase in surviving BrdU-positive cells in intermittent individually housed mice was associated with an increase of BDNF mRNA and protein levels in hippocampus (paper V).

Mice that were intermittently individually housed were more active than group-housed control animals. Animal locomotion was evenly distributed in the open-field arena (data not shown). Normally, anxious animals tend to spend more time in shielded areas next to the walls. Our mice spent as much time in the middle of the arena as did controls, suggesting that the mice were not more stressed/anxious than the controls. Corticosterone levels were also the same between groups. Anxiety, stress and corticosterone have previously been shown to be associated with neurogenesis in hippocampus (Gould and Tanapat, 1999; Malberg et al., 2000; McEwen, 1999). A higher activity in the open-field arena could perhaps be explained by a stronger tendency of individually housed animals to explore a novel environment and move around in a relatively large area, compared to the continuously group-housed mice or mice that had access to a running wheels. The higher activity found in intermittent individually housed mice was counteracted by running every second day. Wheel runners did not explore new environments as much as the ones without access to running wheels, as indicated in the behavioral tests. A running wheel in the cage could possibly serve as a substitute for the cage mates, and these animals were focused on the wheel and not the environment around the wheel, leading to a lower degree of exploration in the cage and thus also in a new environment such as the open-field arena.

Mice from the constantly individually housed group were investigated in the elevated plus-maze to reveal whether these animals were more stressed/anxious than socially housed mice. Interestingly, there was no difference in anxiety between these groups. Further, cell survival was investigated by injections of BrdU three weeks before sacrifice. No change in cell survival could be detected after five weeks of constant individual housing compared to group-housed animals (data not shown, manuscript in preparation).

Changing environments and cage mates in a regular way is likely to keep the animals more alert by providing changing sensory inputs. Interestingly, mice that were grouphoused with enhanced housing and single-housed in cages without running wheels had the highest cell survival levels. This group of animals was also more active in the different locomotor tests. The high locomotion is likely to be coupled to higher neuronal activity, which might promote survival of newly proliferated cells. The animals that were constantly individually housed lacked that sensory input. This could be one reason for the lack of change in cell survival when comparing the two different individual groups. It is also possible that responses to housing conditions could be strain or be gender-specific (Stranahan et al., 2006; Weiss et al., 2004; Westenbroek et al., 2004). We suggest that the increased survival of newly proliferated cells could be due to enhanced environmental stimulation and the challenge of cage changes.

The retinoid system, running and neurogenesis (paper VI)

It is well established that retinoids are important for a normal development, and during the last decade evidence for its importance in the adult brain has increased (Crandall et al., 2004; Goodman, 1998; Krezel et al., 1998; Lane and Bailey, 2005; Wysowski et al., 2001b). For instance, retinoids are involved in cognitive systems and important for learning and memory. Retinoid receptors, binding proteins and ligands are all present in hippocampus and it is also documented that retinoids have the potential to modulate survival and differentiation of newly formed cells and neurogenesis (Crandall et al., 2004; Jacobs et al., 2006; Sakai et al., 2004). Because new neurons are formed in hippocampus and become functionally integrated in hippocampal networks (Zhao et al., 2006), it is tempting to speculate that there is a link between hippocampal neurogenesis, the retinoid system and hippocampal function. For instance, administration of the retinoic acid receptor agonist 13-cis retinoic acid (Accutane) for treatment of severe acne can cause severe depression and suicidal ideation as the worst outcome (Josefson, 1998; Scheinman et al., 1990; Wysowski et al., 2001b). Decreased neurogenesis and increased depressionlike behavior have been noted when 13-cis retinoic acid were administered to animals (O'Reilly et al., 2006).

As running increases neurogenesis and has positive effects on general health (Bjornebekk et al., 2005; Greist et al., 1979; Morgan, 1985; van Praag et al., 1999b), we speculated that running might reduce activity in the retinoid system by modulating endogenous ligand-activation of the retinoic acid receptor in hippocampus. We took advantage of a transgenic mouse (Mata De Urquiza et al., 1999) to detect ligand-activation of retinoic acid receptor (RAR) and retinoid X receptor (RXR) in the adult mouse brain after running.

We found a robust increase in neurogenesis after running, but this increased neurogenesis was not correlated with RAR/RXR activation, nor was activation of RAR/RXR correlated with running. This result was surprising, in the light of previous studies correlating retinoid activation with decreased formation of new cells (Crandall et al., 2004). Our study suggests that there is no correlation between increased hippocampal neurogenesis and changes in ligand-mediated RAR activation after running using the reporter mice system. However, given the limitations of our methods, a putative correlation between hippocampal neurogenesis, the retinoid system, and running cannot be ruled out.

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

The present work contributes to the understanding of how neurogenesis in hippocampus is associated with natural and drug-induced addictive behaviors.

Voluntary low ethanol consumption during short or longer periods does not affect hippocampal neuronal networks or key plasticity genes. However, higher ethanol intake, as well as irregular, unpredictable consumption, changes the formation and survival of new neurons in hippocampus. The context around the ethanol intake is thus important for how it effects the formation of new neurons and plasticity genes in hippocampus. Natural behavioral addictions such as running influence neurogenesis and plasticity genes in hippocampus differently depending on the running period, social and environmental context.

Taken together, both natural and drug-induced reward-generating behaviors induce changes of hippocampal neurogenesis and transcription of plasticity associated genes. These adaptations are likely to be linked to associative and motor learning of the two behaviors and can therefore function as key elements in the establishment of addictions and in relapse.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis work was carried out at the Department of Neuroscience, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden. I would like to thank all the people who were involved in making this thesis possible and in particular, I would like to thank the following people:

Stefan Brené, my amazing supervisor. Thank you for including me in your group as a PhD-student and for letting me develop as a scientist. You have been a tremendous mentor and have always taken the time to address my questions and ideas. Thank you for all your patience and help through these years and I hope that this is not the end of our fruitful partnership, but rather the beginning of a future collaboration. I would also like to express my gratitude to Eva Brené, who has also been indirectly involved in this thesis work.

Lars Olson, my co-supervisor. Thank you for all your support and patience throughout these years. I am impressed by your great knowledge of the brain and of science in general, and I am sincerely grateful that you let me be a part of your group during my time as a graduate student. Thank you for all of your excellent input and comments on manuscripts and the thesis.

I would like to thank my excellent collaborators:

Sven Ove Ögren, thank you for introducing me to the world of the hippocampus! I hope that in the future we also can meet to discuss science and life in general!

Vera Baumans, for her never-ending enthusiasm.

Therese Pham, for always being so helpful.

Shun-Wei Zhu, for our fruitful collaboration.

Mieke Zwart, who was so hard-working. I hope that you enjoyed your time here in Sweden, even if you sectioned so many brains... All the best to you!

Christoph Hofstetter, for teaching me how to use the stereology microscope.

Thomas Perlmann, for providing the retinoid mice.

Alexandra Karlén, I am not sure that I would have been able to make it through these years if it had not been for your presence. You are a great friend, always so thoughtful and kind. I hope that we will stay in contact in the future so that Mina and Edward can play together! Thank you so much for sharing all of your Nogo-expertise with me.

I would like to thank the members of the "hippocampus klubben" for all of the nice, instructive and inspiring meetings. I learned so much from our discussions! I would in particular like to thank Johan Sandin, for his never-ending energy, his knowledge about the hippocampus and his cakes! Thank you also to the other members: Elin Elvander Tottie, Eugenia Kuteeva, Astrid Bjørnebekk, Stina Maxlahti, Anna Mattsson and Sven Ove Ögren.

I would also like to thank the members of the "Kandel klubben": **Kerstin Håkansson, Anna Mattsson, Alexandra Karlén** and **Göran Klement,** for the numerous hours spent struggling to learn everything important about the CNS.

Karin Pernold, Eva Lindqvist and **Karin Lundströmer** –what would have I done without you! Thank you so much for all of your invaluable and excellent help throughout these years, and for teaching me all the necessary methods and techniques.

Ida Engqvist, for her wonderful help with computer concerns and with the layout of this thesis.

The animal staff for taking such good care of my mice and rats: Niklas Lilja, Tua Finnman, Helena Ericsson and Linda Thors.

The Olson group. Thank you for making the work environment such a nice and pleasant place! Astrid Bjørnebekk -We started at the same time in Stefan's group and I am very pleased for that. It is a shame that we were on alternating maternity leave, we should have done more experiments together – but there is still time to collaborate in the future! Astrid, you are a dear friend and I hope that we will keep in contact! Anna Mattsson - I have always been impressed by your knowledge and honesty. You are a good friend and I really enjoyed our "barnvagnspromenader", spinning and boxing. I will never forget the Neuropubs, when you, Alexandra and I had to finish up the leftovers from the pub - those were the days before kids... Andrea Carmine Belin -You are a brilliant scientist with an amazing sense of style! Matthias Erschbamer -I miss our discussions about science and life, since now you left us for Switzerland. Marie "Mimi" Westerlund -You are so elegant and always smiling! Sophia Savage - Thank you for your support during this "thesis-period". Mathew Abrams - Our super toastmaster. Dagmar Galter - Good luck with your future career here at KI and thank you for all your help during these years. **Tobias Karlsson** – You have many years still to go, but I am sure you will get a super thesis with all your energy and good ideas. Good luck and thank you for your Nogo-input. Anna Anvret – Andrea is lucky to have you as a PhD-student, you are always organized and well-prepared. Jaime Ross, thank you for all your help with this thesis!

Silvia Paddock – With your enormous knowledge. Magnus Lekman – Always laughing. Lisette Hörnblad – The most adventurous of us all. Robert Karlsson – the "computer king". Anna Josephson – You are amazing, always elegant and brilliant. You are my role model!

Thank you to all the former colleagues in the Olson group: Martin Werme, I-Hui Lee, Saga Johansson, Johan Lilja and Christian Spenger.

I am grateful to the former and present people at the Department of Neuroscience, in particular: Lorenzo Cangiano, Stefan Plantman, Elin Elvander Tottie, Niklas Lindgren, Eugenia Kuteeva, Ernesto Restrepo, Alexander Kuzmin, Anders Borgkvist, Karolina Wallenborg, Kerstin Håkansson, Maria Torvinen, Zoltan Biro, Mathilda Bäckberg, Malin Höistad, Olov Andersson, Elin Nordström, Mikel Nygård, Simret Beraki, Tara Wardi and Jesper Ericsson.

Thank you to all the professors, researchers and administrative staff for creating a good atmosphere at the department: Staffan Cullheim, Gilberto Fisone, Ola Hermanson, Tomas Hökfelt, Peter Wallén, Ole Kiehn, Lennart Brodin, Peter Löw, Kjell Fuxe, Carlos Ibáñez, Abdel El Manira, Brun Ulfhake, Krister Kristensson, Björn Meister, Christina Ingvarsson, Ingrid Olofsson, Karin Lagerman, Elzbieta Holmberg, Tommy Ryman, Eliana Sobarzo and Vassiliki Galandaris.

Maria Klement, you are my closest friend and you are always there when I need you the most! I am sincerely grateful for all our moments together and for all of those to come. I hope that we can meet more often now that we both have finished our theses. **Göran Klement,** thank you for all our nice chats at work!

Karin Richter, you are so far away but so close in my heart! I am so happy that you are now done with your thesis!

Friends on the west coast: Lovisa, Henrik, Olivia, Erika, Jonas and Viggo.

Wredendal –min nya storfamilj! Gudrun och Bengt, tack för alla sommrar, jular och påskar vi varit hos er –även fast vi ätit er ur huset... Tomas, Malin, Jenny och Tobias, för alla roliga sommrar! Lars, Lena, Cornelia och Ludwig, är det inte dags att göra Stockholm snart igen?

Ann-Britt Larsson, kära mamma, tack för allt! Tack för att du alltid tror på mig och mina ideér och stöttar mig i mina beslut. Du har alltid funnits där för mig. **Nils Larsson**, tack för allt!

Ann-Lis From, min supermormor och gammelmormor till mina barn. Du är fantastisk, så stark och duktig.

Arne Åberg, tack pappa, för att du inspirerat mig till att kämpa, att inte ge upp och att arbeta hårt! Snart kommer vi och hälsar på dig i Senegal!

Martin Rosén, my sporty and crazy brother! I hope that we will have more times together in the future. I am so proud of you! Kajsa Rosén, you are full of energy and ideas!

Carin Åberg, my wonderful little sister. You are the warmest person that I know and you have the biggest heart of us all. You always take care of everyone even if you have a lot to do. Stor kram på dig, syster yster! **Jonny Gardelin**, I am truly happy that you and Carin found each other. You are really a fantastic person, always happy and helpful!

NEEO –my family! Niklas – I could not have done this without you... Thank you for your enormous patience with me, especially this autumn, you are amazing. You are the love in my life! Vad säger du, blir det 2009... eller...?! **Olivia** and **Edward**, my wonderful children – I love you so much, more than life itself! We will be together more now...

REFERENCES

- Adalsteinsson E, Sullivan EV, Mayer D, Pfefferbaum A. 2006. In vivo quantification of ethanol kinetics in rat brain. Neuropsychopharmacology 31(12):2683-91.
- Altman J. 1962. Are new neurons formed in the brains of adult mammals? Science 135:1127-8.
- Altman J, Das GD. 1965. Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. J Comp Neurol 124(3):319-35.
- Altman J, Das GD. 1967. Postnatal neurogenesis in the guinea-pig. Nature 214(5093):1098-101.
- Amaral DG, Witter MP. 1989. The three-dimensional organization of the hippocampal formation: a review of anatomical data. Neuroscience 31(3):571-91.
- Amaral DG, Witter MP. 1995. Hippocampal formation. In: Paxinos G, editor. The rat nervous system. Sydney: Academic press. p 443-494.
- Babyak M, Blumenthal JA, Herman S, Khatri P, Doraiswamy M, Moore K, Craighead WE, Baldewicz TT, Krishnan KR. 2000. Exercise treatment for major depression: maintenance of therapeutic benefit at 10 months. Psychosom Med 62(5):633-8.
- Barde YA, Edgar D, Thoenen H. 1982. Purification of a new neurotrophic factor from mammalian brain. Embo J 1(5):549-53.
- Bates CJ. 1995. Vitamin A. Lancet 345(8941):31-5.
- Bengochea O, Gonzalo LM. 1990. Effect of chronic alcoholism on the human hippocampus. Histol Histopathol 5(3):349-57.
- Berke JD, Hyman SE. 2000. Addiction, dopamine, and the molecular mechanisms of memory. Neuron 25(3):515-32.
- Biebl M, Cooper CM, Winkler J, Kuhn HG. 2000. Analysis of neurogenesis and programmed cell death reveals a self-renewing capacity in the adult rat brain. Neurosci Lett 291(1):17-20.
- Bjornebekk A, Mathe AA, Brené S. 2005. The antidepressant effect of running is associated with increased hippocampal cell proliferation. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 8(3):357-68.
- Bliss TV, Collingridge GL. 1993. A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature 361(6407):31-9.
- Bowman RE, Zrull MC, Luine VN. 2001. Chronic restraint stress enhances radial arm maze performance in female rats. Brain Res 904(2):279-89.
- Bremner JD, Narayan M, Anderson ER, Staib LH, Miller HL, Charney DS. 2000. Hippocampal volume reduction in major depression. Am J Psychiatry 157(1):115-8.
- Brené S, Bjornebekk A, Åberg E, Mathe AA, Olson L, Werme M. 2007. Running is rewarding and antidepressive. Physiol Behav.
- Brown JP, Couillard-Despres S, Cooper-Kuhn CM, Winkler J, Aigner L, Kuhn HG. 2003. Transient expression of doublecortin during adult neurogenesis. J Comp Neurol 467(1):1-10.
- Cameron HA, McKay RD. 2001. Adult neurogenesis produces a large pool of new granule cells in the dentate gyrus. J Comp Neurol 435(4):406-17.
- Chambon P. 1994. The retinoid signaling pathway: molecular and genetic analyses. Semin Cell Biol 5(2):115-25.
- Chambon P. 1996. A decade of molecular biology of retinoic acid receptors. Faseb J 10(9):940-54.
- Chiang MY, Misner D, Kempermann G, Schikorski T, Giguere V, Sucov HM, Gage FH, Stevens CF, Evans RM. 1998. An essential role for retinoid receptors RARbeta and RXRgamma in long-term potentiation and depression. Neuron 21(6):1353-61.
- Chivatakarn O, Kaneko S, He Z, Tessier-Lavigne M, Giger RJ. 2007. The Nogo-66 receptor NgR1 is required only for the acute growth cone-collapsing but not the chronic growth-inhibitory actions of myelin inhibitors. J Neurosci 27(27):7117-24.

- Cocco S, Diaz G, Stancampiano R, Diana A, Carta M, Curreli R, Sarais L, Fadda F. 2002. Vitamin A deficiency produces spatial learning and memory impairment in rats. Neuroscience 115(2):475-82.
- Cohen S. 1960. Purification of a Nerve-Growth Promoting Protein from the Mouse Salivary Gland and Its Neuro-Cytotoxic Antiserum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 46(3):302-11.
- Conrad CD, Grote KA, Hobbs RJ, Ferayorni A. 2003. Sex differences in spatial and non-spatial Y-maze performance after chronic stress. Neurobiol Learn Mem 79(1):32-40.
- Crandall J, Sakai Y, Zhang J, Koul O, Mineur Y, Crusio WE, McCaffery P. 2004. 13-cis-retinoic acid suppresses hippocampal cell division and hippocampal-dependent learning in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(14):5111-6.
- Czeh B, Michaelis T, Watanabe T, Frahm J, de Biurrun G, van Kampen M, Bartolomucci A, Fuchs E. 2001. Stress-induced changes in cerebral metabolites, hippocampal volume, and cell proliferation are prevented by antidepressant treatment with tianeptine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(22):12796-801.
- Deatherage G. 1972. Effects of housing density on alcohol intake in the rat. Physiol Behav 9(1):55-7.
- Di Chiara G, Imperato A. 1988. Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85(14):5274-8.
- Dragan A, Akhtar-Danesh N. 2007. Relation between body mass index and depression: a structural equation modeling approach. BMC Med Res Methodol 7:17.
- Duman RS. 2004. Role of neurotrophic factors in the etiology and treatment of mood disorders. Neuromolecular Med 5(1):11-25.
- Duman RS, Malberg J, Nakagawa S. 2001. Regulation of adult neurogenesis by psychotropic drugs and stress. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 299(2):401-7.
- Eichenbaum H, Schoenbaum G, Young B, Bunsey M. 1996. Functional organization of the hippocampal memory system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(24):13500-7.
- Endo T, Spenger C, Tominaga T, Brené S, Olson L. 2007. Cortical sensory map rearrangement after spinal cord injury: fMRI responses linked to Nogo signalling. Brain.
- Eriksson PS, Perfilieva E, Bjork-Eriksson T, Alborn AM, Nordborg C, Peterson DA, Gage FH. 1998. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med 4(11):1313-7.
- Ernfors P, Ibanez CF, Ebendal T, Olson L, Persson H. 1990. Molecular cloning and neurotrophic activities of a protein with structural similarities to nerve growth factor: developmental and topographical expression in the brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87(14):5454-8.
- Etchamendy N, Enderlin V, Marighetto A, Pallet V, Higueret P, Jaffard R. 2003. Vitamin A deficiency and relational memory deficit in adult mice: relationships with changes in brain retinoid signalling. Behav Brain Res 145(1-2):37-49.
- Fadda F, Cocco S, Stancampiano R, Rossetti ZL. 1999. Long-term voluntary ethanol consumption affects neither spatial nor passive avoidance learning, nor hippocampal acetylcholine release in alcohol-preferring rats. Behav Brain Res 103(1):71-6.
- Franklin K, Paxinos G. 1997. The mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates. San Diego: Academic press.
- Frey U, Morris RG. 1998. Synaptic tagging: implications for late maintenance of hippocampal long-term potentiation. Trends Neurosci 21(5):181-8.
- Gage FH. 2000. Mammalian neural stem cells. Science 287(5457):1433-8.
- Gage FH, Kempermann G, Palmer TD, Peterson DA, Ray J. 1998. Multipotent progenitor cells in the adult dentate gyrus. J Neurobiol 36(2):249-66.
- Gasbarri A, Sulli A, Packard MG. 1997. The dopaminergic mesencephalic projections to the hippocampal formation in the rat. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 21(1):1-22.
- Gecici O, Kuloglu M, Atmaca M, Tezcan AE, Tunckol H, Emul HM, Ustundag B. 2005. High serum leptin levels in depressive disorders with atypical features. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 59(6):736-8.

- Goldman SA, Nottebohm F. 1983. Neuronal production, migration, and differentiation in a vocal control nucleus of the adult female canary brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80(8):2390-4.
- Goodman AB. 1998. Three independent lines of evidence suggest retinoids as causal to schizophrenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(13):7240-4.
- Gould E, Beylin A, Tanapat P, Reeves A, Shors TJ. 1999. Learning enhances adult neurogenesis in the hippocampal formation. Nat Neurosci 2(3):260-5.
- Gould E, McEwen BS, Tanapat P, Galea LA, Fuchs E. 1997. Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult tree shrew is regulated by psychosocial stress and NMDA receptor activation. J Neurosci 17(7):2492-8.
- Gould E, Tanapat P. 1999. Stress and hippocampal neurogenesis. Biol Psychiatry 46(11):1472-9.
- Greist JH, Klein MH, Eischens RR, Faris J, Gurman AS, Morgan WP. 1979. Running as treatment for depression. Compr Psychiatry 20(1):41-54.
- Halasy K, Somogyi P. 1993. Subdivisions in the multiple GABAergic innervation of granule cells in the dentate gyrus of the rat hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 5(5):411-29.
- Hallbook F. 1999. Evolution of the vertebrate neurotrophin and Trk receptor gene families. Curr Opin Neurobiol 9(5):616-21.
- Hallbook F, Ibanez CF, Persson H. 1991. Evolutionary studies of the nerve growth factor family reveal a novel member abundantly expressed in Xenopus ovary. Neuron 6(5):845-58.
- Harding AJ, Wong A, Svoboda M, Kril JJ, Halliday GM. 1997. Chronic alcohol consumption does not cause hippocampal neuron loss in humans. Hippocampus 7(1):78-87.
- Harper C. 1998. The neuropathology of alcohol-specific brain damage, or does alcohol damage the brain? J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 57(2):101-10.
- Harper C, Kril J. 1989. Patterns of neuronal loss in the cerebral cortex in chronic alcoholic patients. J Neurol Sci 92(1):81-9.
- Harper C, Kril J. 1991. If you drink your brain will shrink. Neuropathological considerations. Alcohol Alcohol Suppl 1:375-80.
- Harris RB, Zhou J, Youngblood BD, Smagin GN, Ryan DH. 1997. Failure to change exploration or saccharin preference in rats exposed to chronic mild stress. Physiol Behav 63(1):91-100.
- Hastings NB, Gould E. 1999. Rapid extension of axons into the CA3 region by adult-generated granule cells. J Comp Neurol 413(1):146-54.
- He Z, Koprivica V. 2004. The Nogo signaling pathway for regeneration block. Annu Rev Neurosci 27:341-68.
- Hebb DO. 1947. The effects of early experience on problemsolving at maturity. Am. Psychol. 2:306-307.
- Holmes MM, Galea LA, Mistlberger RE, Kempermann G. 2004. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and voluntary running activity: circadian and dose-dependent effects. J Neurosci Res 76(2):216-22.
- Hyman SE. 2005. Addiction: a disease of learning and memory. Am J Psychiatry 162(8):1414-22.
- Hyman SE, Malenka RC, Nestler EJ. 2006. Neural Mechanisms of Addiction: The Role of Reward-Related Learning and Memory. Annu Rev Neurosci.
- Iversen IH. 1993. Techniques for establishing schedules with wheel running as reinforcement in rats. J Exp Anal Behav 60(1):219-38.
- Jacobs S, Lie DC, DeCicco KL, Shi Y, DeLuca LM, Gage FH, Evans RM. 2006. Retinoic acid is required early during adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(10):3902-7.
- Jensen GB, Pakkenberg B. 1993. Do alcoholics drink their neurons away? Lancet 342(8881):1201-4.
- Jessberger S, Kempermann G. 2003. Adult-born hippocampal neurons mature into activity-dependent responsiveness. Eur J Neurosci 18(10):2707-12.

- Johnson D, Lanahan A, Buck CR, Sehgal A, Morgan C, Mercer E, Bothwell M, Chao M. 1986. Expression and structure of the human NGF receptor. Cell 47(4):545-54.
- Josefson D. 1998. Acne drug is linked to severe depression. Bmj 316(7133):723.
- Josephson A, Trifunovski A, Scheele C, Widenfalk J, Wahlestedt C, Brené S, Olson L, Spenger C. 2003. Activity-induced and developmental downregulation of the Nogo receptor. Cell Tissue Res 311(3):333-42.
- Josephson A, Trifunovski A, Widmer HR, Widenfalk J, Olson L, Spenger C. 2002. Nogo-receptor gene activity: cellular localization and developmental regulation of mRNA in mice and humans. J Comp Neurol 453(3):292-304.
- Kalev-Zylinska ML, During MJ. 2007. Paradoxical facilitatory effect of low-dose alcohol consumption on memory mediated by NMDA receptors. J Neurosci 27(39):10456-67.
- Karlén A, Josephson A, Mattsson A, Karlsson T, Lundströmer K, Pham T, Backman C, Ögren SO, Hoffer B, Spenger C, Brené S and Olson L. 2007. Nogo receptor controls long-term memory formation. Manuscript.
- Kastner P, Mark M, Ghyselinck N, Krezel W, Dupe V, Grondona JM, Chambon P. 1997. Genetic evidence that the retinoid signal is transduced by heterodimeric RXR/RAR functional units during mouse development. Development 124(2):313-26.
- Kempermann G. 2002. Why new neurons? Possible functions for adult hippocampal neurogenesis. J Neurosci 22(3):635-8.
- Kempermann G, Gage FH. 1999. Experience-dependent regulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis: effects of long-term stimulation and stimulus withdrawal. Hippocampus 9(3):321-32.
- Kempermann G, Gage FH. 2002. Genetic determinants of adult hippocampal neurogenesis correlate with acquisition, but not probe trial performance, in the water maze task. Eur J Neurosci 16(1):129-36.
- Kempermann G, Gast D, Kronenberg G, Yamaguchi M, Gage FH. 2003. Early determination and long-term persistence of adult-generated new neurons in the hippocampus of mice. Development 130(2):391-9.
- Kempermann G, Jessberger S, Steiner B, Kronenberg G. 2004. Milestones of neuronal development in the adult hippocampus. Trends Neurosci 27(8):447-52.
- Kempermann G, Kuhn HG, Gage FH. 1997. More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. Nature 386(6624):493-5.
- Klein R, Parada LF, Coulier F, Barbacid M. 1989. trkB, a novel tyrosine protein kinase receptor expressed during mouse neural development. Embo J 8(12):3701-9.
- Koob GF, Sanna PP, Bloom FE. 1998. Neuroscience of addiction. Neuron 21(3):467-76.
- Korbo L. 1999. Glial cell loss in the hippocampus of alcoholics. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 23(1):164-8.
- Kornack DR, Rakic P. 1999. Continuation of neurogenesis in the hippocampus of the adult macaque monkey. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(10):5768-73.
- Korsching S, Auburger G, Heumann R, Scott J, Thoenen H. 1985. Levels of nerve growth factor and its mRNA in the central nervous system of the rat correlate with cholinergic innervation. Embo J 4(6):1389-93.
- Krezel W, Ghyselinck N, Samad TA, Dupe V, Kastner P, Borrelli E, Chambon P. 1998. Impaired locomotion and dopamine signaling in retinoid receptor mutant mice. Science 279(5352):863-7.
- Krezel W, Kastner P, Chambon P. 1999. Differential expression of retinoid receptors in the adult mouse central nervous system. Neuroscience 89(4):1291-300.
- Kril JJ, Halliday GM. 1999. Brain shrinkage in alcoholics: a decade on and what have we learned? Prog Neurobiol 58(4):381-7.
- Kril JJ, Halliday GM, Svoboda MD, Cartwright H. 1997. The cerebral cortex is damaged in chronic alcoholics. Neuroscience 79(4):983-98.

- Kubera M, Basta-Kaim A, Holan V, Simbirtsev A, Roman A, Pigareva N, Prokopieva E, Sham J. 1998. Effect of mild chronic stress, as a model of depression, on the immunoreactivity of C57BL/6 mice. Int J Immunopharmacol 20(12):781-9.
- Kuhn HG, Dickinson-Anson H, Gage FH. 1996. Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat: agerelated decrease of neuronal progenitor proliferation. J Neurosci 16(6):2027-33.
- Lai C, Watson JB, Bloom FE, Sutcliffe JG, Milner RJ. 1987. Neural protein 1B236/myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG) defines a subgroup of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Immunol Rev 100:129-51.
- Lamballe F, Klein R, Barbacid M. 1991. trkC, a new member of the trk family of tyrosine protein kinases, is a receptor for neurotrophin-3. Cell 66(5):967-79.
- Lane MA, Bailey SJ. 2005. Role of retinoid signalling in the adult brain. Prog Neurobiol 75(4):275-93.
- Lauren J, Hu F, Chin J, Liao J, Airaksinen MS, Strittmatter SM. 2007. Characterization of myelin ligand complexes with neuronal Nogo-66 receptor family members. J Biol Chem 282(8):5715-25.
- Lavebratt C, Trifunovski A, Persson AS, Wang FH, Klason T, Ohman I, Josephsson A, Olson L, Spenger C, Schalling M. 2006. Carbamazepine protects against megencephaly and abnormal expression of BDNF and Nogo signaling components in the mceph/mceph mouse. Neurobiol Dis 24(2):374-83.
- Leid M, Kastner P, Durand B, Krust A, Leroy P, Lyons R, Mendelsohn C, Nagpal S, Nakshatri H, Reibel C and others. 1993. Retinoic acid signal transduction pathways. Ann N Y Acad Sci 684:19-34.
- Lett BT, Grant VL, Byrne MJ, Koh MT. 2000. Pairings of a distinctive chamber with the aftereffect of wheel running produce conditioned place preference. Appetite 34(1):87-94.
- Lett BT, Grant VL, Koh MT. 2001. Naloxone attenuates the conditioned place preference induced by wheel running in rats. Physiol Behav 72(3):355-8.
- Levine AS, Morley JE. 1981. Stress-induced eating in rats. Am J Physiol 241(1):R72-6.
- Levison SW, Rothstein RP, Brazel CY, Young GM, Albrecht PJ. 2000. Selective apoptosis within the rat subependymal zone: a plausible mechanism for determining which lineages develop from neural stem cells. Dev Neurosci 22(1-2):106-15.
- Linden R. 1994. The survival of developing neurons: a review of afferent control. Neuroscience 58(4):671-82.
- Lisman JE. 1999. Relating hippocampal circuitry to function: recall of memory sequences by reciprocal dentate-CA3 interactions. Neuron 22(2):233-42.
- Malberg JE, Eisch AJ, Nestler EJ, Duman RS. 2000. Chronic antidepressant treatment increases neurogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 20(24):9104-10.
- Mangelsdorf DJ, Evans RM. 1995. The RXR heterodimers and orphan receptors. Cell 83(6):841-50.
- Mangelsdorf DJ, Ong ES, Dyck JA, Evans RM. 1990. Nuclear receptor that identifies a novel retinoic acid response pathway. Nature 345(6272):224-9.
- Mann K, Mundle G, Strayle M, Wakat P. 1995. Neuroimaging in alcoholism: CT and MRI results and clinical correlates. J Neural Transm Gen Sect 99(1-3):145-55.
- Martin KC, Kandel ER. 1996. Cell adhesion molecules, CREB, and the formation of new synaptic connections. Neuron 17(4):567-70.
- Martin SJ, Morris RG. 2002. New life in an old idea: the synaptic plasticity and memory hypothesis revisited. Hippocampus 12(5):609-36.
- Martinsen EW, Medhus A, Sandvik L. 1985. Effects of aerobic exercise on depression: a controlled study. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 291(6488):109.
- Martinsen EW, Strand J, Paulsson G, Kaggestad J. 1989. Physical fitness level in patients with anxiety and depressive disorders. Int J Sports Med 10(1):58-61.
- Martin-Zanca D, Hughes SH, Barbacid M. 1986. A human oncogene formed by the fusion of truncated tropomyosin and protein tyrosine kinase sequences. Nature 319(6056):743-8.

- Mata De Urquiza A, Solomin L, Perlmann T. 1999. Feedback-inducible nuclear-receptor-driven reporter gene expression in transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(23):13270-5.
- Matthews K, Forbes N, Reid IC. 1995. Sucrose consumption as an hedonic measure following chronic unpredictable mild stress. Physiol Behav 57(2):241-8.
- Mattson MP, Duan W, Guo Z. 2003. Meal size and frequency affect neuronal plasticity and vulnerability to disease: cellular and molecular mechanisms. J Neurochem 84(3):417-31.
- McCaffery PJ, Adams J, Maden M, Rosa-Molinar E. 2003. Too much of a good thing: retinoic acid as an endogenous regulator of neural differentiation and exogenous teratogen. Eur J Neurosci 18(3):457-72.
- McEwen BS. 1999. Stress and hippocampal plasticity. Annu Rev Neurosci 22:105-22.
- McGee AW, Yang Y, Fischer QS, Daw NW, Strittmatter SM. 2005. Experience-driven plasticity of visual cortex limited by myelin and Nogo receptor. Science 309(5744):2222-6.
- McKerracher L, David S, Jackson DL, Kottis V, Dunn RJ, Braun PE. 1994. Identification of myelin-associated glycoprotein as a major myelin-derived inhibitor of neurite growth. Neuron 13(4):805-11.
- McKerracher L, Winton MJ. 2002. Nogo on the go. Neuron 36(3):345-8.
- Mi S, Lee X, Shao Z, Thill G, Ji B, Relton J, Levesque M, Allaire N, Perrin S, Sands B and others. 2004. LINGO-1 is a component of the Nogo-66 receptor/p75 signaling complex. Nat Neurosci 7(3):221-8.
- Middaugh LD, Kelley BM, Bandy AL, McGroarty KK. 1999. Ethanol consumption by C57BL/6 mice: influence of gender and procedural variables. Alcohol 17(3):175-83.
- Misner DL, Jacobs S, Shimizu Y, de Urquiza AM, Solomin L, Perlmann T, De Luca LM, Stevens CF, Evans RM. 2001. Vitamin A deprivation results in reversible loss of hippocampal long-term synaptic plasticity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(20):11714-9.
- Morgan WP. 1985. Affective beneficence of vigorous physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 17(1):94-100.
- Nagaraja HS, Jeganathan PS. 2002. Voluntary alcohol drinking & caloric intake in rats exposed to crowding stress. Indian J Med Res 116:111-6.
- Nakagawa S, Kim JE, Lee R, Malberg JE, Chen J, Steffen C, Zhang YJ, Nestler EJ, Duman RS. 2002. Regulation of neurogenesis in adult mouse hippocampus by cAMP and the cAMP response element-binding protein. J Neurosci 22(9):3673-82.
- Naylor AS, Persson AI, Eriksson PS, Jonsdottir IH, Thorlin T. 2005. Extended voluntary running inhibits exercise-induced adult hippocampal progenitor proliferation in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. J Neurophysiol 93(5):2406-14.
- Neeper SA, Gomez-Pinilla F, Choi J, Cotman CW. 1996. Physical activity increases mRNA for brainderived neurotrophic factor and nerve growth factor in rat brain. Brain Res 726(1-2):49-56.
- Nestler EJ. 2002. Common molecular and cellular substrates of addiction and memory. Neurobiol Learn Mem 78(3):637-47.
- Nibuya M, Morinobu S, Duman RS. 1995. Regulation of BDNF and trkB mRNA in rat brain by chronic electroconvulsive seizure and antidepressant drug treatments. J Neurosci 15(11):7539-47.
- Nilsson M, Perfilieva E, Johansson U, Orwar O, Eriksson PS. 1999. Enriched environment increases neurogenesis in the adult rat dentate gyrus and improves spatial memory. J Neurobiol 39(4):569-78.
- Nixon K, Crews FT. 2002. Binge ethanol exposure decreases neurogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. J Neurochem 83(5):1087-93.
- O'Reilly KC, Shumake J, Gonzalez-Lima F, Lane MA, Bailey SJ. 2006. Chronic administration of 13-cisretinoic acid increases depression-related behavior in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 31(9):1919-27.

- Ortiz J, Fitzgerald LW, Charlton M, Lane S, Trevisan L, Guitart X, Shoemaker W, Duman RS, Nestler EJ. 1995. Biochemical actions of chronic ethanol exposure in the mesolimbic dopamine system. Synapse 21(4):289-98.
- Palmer MR, Sorensen SM, Freedman R, Olson L, Hoffer B, Seiger A. 1982. Differential ethanol sensitivity of intraocular cerebellar grafts in long-sleep and short-sleep mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 222(2):480-7.
- Palmer TD, Takahashi J, Gage FH. 1997. The adult rat hippocampus contains primordial neural stem cells. Mol Cell Neurosci 8(6):389-404.
- Park JB, Yiu G, Kaneko S, Wang J, Chang J, He XL, Garcia KC, He Z. 2005. A TNF receptor family member, TROY, is a coreceptor with Nogo receptor in mediating the inhibitory activity of myelin inhibitors. Neuron 45(3):345-51.
- Paton JA, Nottebohm FN. 1984. Neurons generated in the adult brain are recruited into functional circuits. Science 225(4666):1046-8.
- Pawlak R, Skrzypiec A, Sulkowski S, Buczko W. 2002. Ethanol-induced neurotoxicity is counterbalanced by increased cell proliferation in mouse dentate gyrus. Neurosci Lett 327(2):83-6.
- Perfilieva E, Risedal A, Nyberg J, Johansson BB, Eriksson PS. 2001. Gender and strain influence on neurogenesis in dentate gyrus of young rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 21(3):211-7.
- Phillips ML, Drevets WC, Rauch SL, Lane R. 2003. Neurobiology of emotion perception I: The neural basis of normal emotion perception. Biol Psychiatry 54(5):504-14.
- Renner MJ, Rosenzweig MR. 1987. Enriched and impoverished environments: Effects on brain and behaviour. New York: Springer.
- Riedel G, Micheau J, Lam AG, Roloff EL, Martin SJ, Bridge H, de Hoz L, Poeschel B, McCulloch J, Morris RG. 1999. Reversible neural inactivation reveals hippocampal participation in several memory processes. Nat Neurosci 2(10):898-905.
- Rietze RL, Valcanis H, Brooker GF, Thomas T, Voss AK, Bartlett PF. 2001. Purification of a pluripotent neural stem cell from the adult mouse brain. Nature 412(6848):736-9.
- Robinson TE, Kolb B. 1999. Morphine alters the structure of neurons in the nucleus accumbens and neocortex of rats. Synapse 33(2):160-2.
- Sakai Y, Crandall JE, Brodsky J, McCaffery P. 2004. 13-cis Retinoic acid (accutane) suppresses hippocampal cell survival in mice. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1021:436-40.
- Scheinman PL, Peck GL, Rubinow DR, DiGiovanna JJ, Abangan DL, Ravin PD. 1990. Acute depression from isotretinoin. J Am Acad Dermatol 22(6 Pt 1):1112-4.
- Schenk S, Gorman K, Amit Z. 1990. Age-dependent effects of isolation housing on the self-administration of ethanol in laboratory rats. Alcohol 7(4):321-6.
- Schinder AF, Gage FH. 2004. A hypothesis about the role of adult neurogenesis in hippocampal function. Physiology (Bethesda) 19:253-61.
- Schwab MA, Sauer SW, Okun JG, Nijtmans LG, Rodenburg RJ, van den Heuvel LP, Drose S, Brandt U, Hoffmann GF, Ter Laak H and others. 2006. Secondary mitochondrial dysfunction in propionic aciduria: a pathogenic role for endogenous mitochondrial toxins. Biochem J 398(1):107-12.
- Schwab ME, Bartholdi D. 1996. Degeneration and regeneration of axons in the lesioned spinal cord. Physiol Rev 76(2):319-70.
- Schwab ME, Kapfhammer JP, Bandtlow CE. 1993. Inhibitors of neurite growth. Annu Rev Neurosci 16:565-95.
- Shors TJ, Mathew J, Sisti HM, Edgecomb C, Beckoff S, Dalla C. 2007. Neurogenesis and helplessness are mediated by controllability in males but not in females. Biol Psychiatry 62(5):487-95.
- Shors TJ, Miesegaes G, Beylin A, Zhao M, Rydel T, Gould E. 2001. Neurogenesis in the adult is involved in the formation of trace memories. Nature 410(6826):372-6.

- Shors TJ, Townsend DA, Zhao M, Kozorovitskiy Y, Gould E. 2002. Neurogenesis may relate to some but not all types of hippocampal-dependent learning. Hippocampus 12(5):578-84.
- Silva AJ. 2003. Molecular and cellular cognitive studies of the role of synaptic plasticity in memory. J Neurobiol 54(1):224-37.
- Solomin L, Johansson CB, Zetterstrom RH, Bissonnette RP, Heyman RA, Olson L, Lendahl U, Frisen J, Perlmann T. 1998. Retinoid-X receptor signalling in the developing spinal cord. Nature 395(6700):398-402.
- Spanagel R. 2003. Alcohol addiction research: from animal models to clinics. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 17(4):507-18.
- Spanagel R, Holter SM. 1999. Long-term alcohol self-administration with repeated alcohol deprivation phases: an animal model of alcoholism? Alcohol Alcohol 34(2):231-43.
- Stanfield BB, Trice JE. 1988. Evidence that granule cells generated in the dentate gyrus of adult rats extend axonal projections. Exp Brain Res 72(2):399-406.
- Stranahan AM, Khalil D, Gould E. 2006. Social isolation delays the positive effects of running on adult neurogenesis. Nat Neurosci 9(4):526-33.
- Stranahan AM, Khalil D, Gould E. 2007. Running induces widespread structural alterations in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. Hippocampus.
- Strawbridge WJ, Deleger S, Roberts RE, Kaplan GA. 2002. Physical activity reduces the risk of subsequent depression for older adults. Am J Epidemiol 156(4):328-34.
- Tonissaar M, Mallo T, Eller M, Haidkind R, Koiv K, Harro J. 2007. Rat behavior after chronic variable stress and partial lesioning of 5-HT-ergic neurotransmission: Effects of citalopram. Prog Neuropsy-chopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.
- Trifunovski A, Josephson A, Ringman A, Brené S, Spenger C, Olson L. 2004. Neuronal activity-induced regulation of Lingo-1. Neuroreport 15(15):2397-400.
- Ungerstedt U. 1971. Stereotaxic mapping of the monoamine pathways in the rat brain. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl 367:1-48.
- van Praag H, Christie BR, Sejnowski TJ, Gage FH. 1999a. Running enhances neurogenesis, learning, and long-term potentiation in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(23):13427-31.
- van Praag H, Kempermann G, Gage FH. 1999b. Running increases cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse dentate gyrus. Nat Neurosci 2(3):266-70.
- van Praag H, Kempermann G, Gage FH. 2000. Neural consequences of environmental enrichment. Nat Rev Neurosci 1(3):191-8.
- van Praag H, Schinder AF, Christie BR, Toni N, Palmer TD, Gage FH. 2002. Functional neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus. Nature 415(6875):1030-4.
- Wang KC, Kim JA, Sivasankaran R, Segal R, He Z. 2002a. P75 interacts with the Nogo receptor as a coreceptor for Nogo, MAG and OMgp. Nature 420(6911):74-8.
- Wang KC, Koprivica V, Kim JA, Sivasankaran R, Guo Y, Neve RL, He Z. 2002b. Oligodendrocyte-myelin glycoprotein is a Nogo receptor ligand that inhibits neurite outgrowth. Nature 417(6892):941-4.
- Wartburg JP. 1976. [Biochemical effects of alcohol consumption (proceedings)]. Bibl Nutr Dieta 24:7-16.
- Watkins TA, Barres BA. 2002. Integrins as developmental switches. Nat Cell Biol 4(11):E253-5.
- Weiss IC, Pryce CR, Jongen-Relo AL, Nanz-Bahr NI, Feldon J. 2004. Effect of social isolation on stressrelated behavioural and neuroendocrine state in the rat. Behav Brain Res 152(2):279-95.
- Werme M, Messer C, Olson L, Gilden L, Thoren P, Nestler EJ, Brené S. 2002. Delta FosB regulates wheel running. J Neurosci 22(18):8133-8.
- Werme M, Thoren P, Olson L, Brené S. 1999. Addiction-prone Lewis but not Fischer rats develop compulsive running that coincides with downregulation of nerve growth factor inducible-B and neuronderived orphan receptor 1. J Neurosci 19(14):6169-74.

- Werme M, Thoren P, Olson L, Brené S. 2000. Running and cocaine both upregulate dynorphin mRNA in medial caudate putamen. Eur J Neurosci 12(8):2967-74.
- West MJ, Gundersen HJ. 1990. Unbiased stereological estimation of the number of neurons in the human hippocampus. J Comp Neurol 296(1):1-22.
- West MJ, Slomianka L, Gundersen HJ. 1991. Unbiased stereological estimation of the total number of neurons in thesubdivisions of the rat hippocampus using the optical fractionator. Anat Rec 231(4):482-97.
- Westenbroek C, Den Boer JA, Veenhuis M, Ter Horst GJ. 2004. Chronic stress and social housing differentially affect neurogenesis in male and female rats. Brain Res Bull 64(4):303-8.
- Westenbroek C, Ter Horst GJ, Roos MH, Kuipers SD, Trentani A, den Boer JA. 2003. Gender-specific effects of social housing in rats after chronic mild stress exposure. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 27(1):21-30.
- Wetmore C, Ernfors P, Persson H, Olson L. 1990. Localization of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA to neurons in the brain by in situ hybridization. Exp Neurol 109(2):141-52.
- Videbech P, Ravnkilde B. 2004. Hippocampal volume and depression: a meta-analysis of MRI studies. Am J Psychiatry 161(11):1957-66.
- Wise RA. 1998. Drug-activation of brain reward pathways. Drug Alcohol Depend 51(1-2):13-22.
- Wittenberg GM, Tsien JZ. 2002. An emerging molecular and cellular framework for memory processing by the hippocampus. Trends Neurosci 25(10):501-5.
- Vizi ES, Kiss JP. 1998. Neurochemistry and pharmacology of the major hippocampal transmitter systems: synaptic and nonsynaptic interactions. Hippocampus 8(6):566-607.
- Wolffgramm J. 1990. Free choice ethanol intake of laboratory rats under different social conditions. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 101(2):233-9.
- Wurbel H. 2001. Ideal homes? Housing effects on rodent brain and behaviour. Trends Neurosci 24(4):207-11.
- Wysowski DK, Pitts M, Beitz J. 2001a. An analysis of reports of depression and suicide in patients treated with isotretinoin. J Am Acad Dermatol 45(4):515-9.
- Wysowski DK, Pitts M, Beitz J. 2001b. Depression and suicide in patients treated with isotretinoin. N Engl J Med 344(6):460.
- Yanai J, Ginsburg BE. 1976. Increased sensitivity to chronic ethanol in isolated mice. Psychopharmacologia 46(2):185-9.
- Young D, Lawlor PA, Leone P, Dragunow M, During MJ. 1999. Environmental enrichment inhibits spontaneous apoptosis, prevents seizures and is neuroprotective. Nat Med 5(4):448-53.
- Zelena D, Haller J, Halasz J, Makara GB. 1999. Social stress of variable intensity: physiological and behavioral consequences. Brain Res Bull 48(3):297-302.
- Zetterstrom RH, Lindqvist E, Mata de Urquiza A, Tomac A, Eriksson U, Perlmann T, Olson L. 1999. Role of retinoids in the CNS: differential expression of retinoid binding proteins and receptors and evidence for presence of retinoic acid. Eur J Neurosci 11(2):407-16.
- Zetterstrom RH, Simon A, Giacobini MM, Eriksson U, Olson L. 1994. Localization of cellular retinoidbinding proteins suggests specific roles for retinoids in the adult central nervous system. Neuroscience 62(3):899-918.
- Zhao C, Teng EM, Summers RG, Jr., Ming GL, Gage FH. 2006. Distinct morphological stages of dentate granule neuron maturation in the adult mouse hippocampus. J Neurosci 26(1):3-11.
- Zharkovsky T, Kaasik A, Jaako K, Zharkovsky A. 2003. Neurodegeneration and production of the new cells in the dentate gyrus of juvenile rat hippocampus after a single administration of ethanol. Brain Res 978(1-2):115-23.